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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”), | would like to present the
2023/24 annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year”), the Group’s revenue
was approximately HK$148.2 million (2023: approximately HK$157.0
million). Such increase was mainly attributable to the challenging business
environment in Hong Kong, leading to a lower level of construction works
and projects available during the Year when compared with the year
ended 31 March 2023, resulting in a lower than expected demand for our
products.

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$22.6 million for the
Year as compared to the net loss of approximately HK$3.6 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023. This was mainly attributable to the decrease
in revenue and gross profit, and increase in loss on fair value changes of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, write down on
inventories, freight, transportation and storage costs, staff costs and
taxation charge during the Year.

During the Year, the Group continued to develop its various business and
geographical segments. In Hong Kong, the business environment had
remained stagnant due to the uncertain economic outlook.

Internationally, as the Group continues to develop the international
markets, it is expected the revenue generated from international
customers will increase as a result.

Overall, the Group is cautious towards the future of the construction
market and the business of the Group in Hong Kong. At the international
level, the Group will continue its efforts to capture business opportunities
in the overseas markets.

Lastly, | would like to express our sincere gratitude to our shareholders,
customers and business partners for their continuous support, and to our
management and staff members for their diligence, dedication and
contribution to the growth of the Group.

By order of the Board

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
Li Kai Lai Miranda

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of
DTH rockdrilling tools, trading of piling and drilling machineries and
rockdrilling equipment.

During the Year, the market environments in Hong Kong and Macau were
challenging due to the uncertain economic conditions, leading to less
construction projects available in the Hong Kong and Macau market. At
the international level, the revenue generated from the Scandinavia
market has decreased during the Year as a result of the decrease in
business activities in the region. Businesses from Germany and USA
have seen increase in activities, leading to increase in revenue contributed
from the regions. This had resulted in a decrease in contribution to our
Group’s revenue as our local customers have decreased their purchases
of our products. There has been increases in fair value loss in financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, where the fair value loss
amounted to approximately HK$3.1 million during the Year (2023: fair
value loss of approximately HK$1.7 million), write down of inventories of
approximately HK$2.0 million (2023: reversal of write down of
approximately HK$0.4 million), and impairment loss of trade receivables
of approximately HK$4.0 million (2023: approximately HK$4.3 million)
during the Year. The effects as mentioned above have resulted in an
increase in the loss position during the Year, where the loss for the Year
is approximately HK$22.6 million, as compared with the loss of
approximately HK$3.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Hong Kong remains to be the Group’s major market, where the revenue
generated from Hong Kong contributed to approximately HK$142.6
million for the Year (2023: approximately HK$149.5 million), or
approximately 96.2% of the total revenue during the Year (2023:
approximately 95.2%). Revenue generated from Macau contributed to
approximately HK$0.5 million for the Year (2023: approximately HK$1.5
million).

At the international level, revenue generated from Scandinavia contributed
to approximately HK$1.5 million (2023: approximately HK$5.2 million), or
approximately 1.0% of the total revenue during the Year (2023:
approximately 3.3%). Revenue generated from Germany and USA
contributed to approximately HK$1.5 million (2023: approximately
HK$0.8 million) and HK$0.8 million (2023: nil) for the Year, respectively.
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The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of
DTH rockdrilling tools. Our self-designed and manufactured DTH
rockdrilling tools can be categorised into the following main categories,
namely DTH hammers, casing systems (comprising driver bits and casing
bits), and other miscellaneous products including button bits and bit
openers, as well as our newly developed products, drill pipes, cluster
drills and casing tubes. Revenue from the manufacturing and trading of
DTH rockdrilling tools contributed to approximately 92.1% of the total
revenue during the Year (2023: approximately 93.3%).

The Group is also engaged in the trading of piling and drilling machineries
and rockdrilling equipment to our customers as part of our technical
rockdrilling solutions. Revenue from trading of piling and drilling
machineries and rockdrilling equipment contributed to approximately
7.9% of the total revenue during the Year (2023: approximately 6.7%).

The Group’s revenue decreased by approximately HK$8.8 million or
5.6%, to approximately HK$148.2 million for the Year, from approximately
HK$157.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2023. Our gross profit for
the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 were approximately
HK$43.4 million and approximately HK$34.1 million respectively. For the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024, the revenue from the
manufacturing and trading of DTH rockdrilling tools accounted for
approximately 93.3% and approximately 92.1% of the total revenue,
respectively. The revenue from trading of piling and drilling machineries
and rockdrilling equipment accounted for the rest of our revenue. We sell
our products to customers in Hong Kong, Macau, and through
distributors in Finland and Japan to end users in Scandinavia and Japan
respectively. We generated most of our revenue from sales in Hong
Kong, which accounted for approximately 95.2% and approximately
96.2% of our total revenue for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31
March 2024 respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BT ko T

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued) Bt 7% =1 B (4
Consolidated Results of Operations (Continued) REREEE(B)

The following discussion addresses the principal trends that have T Xl AFEFERFNKLEEENT
affected our results of operations during the Year. The following table  E 8% - TXREH VKPR REENLEE K

sets out our consolidated results of operations for the years indicated: EEE
For the year ended 31 March
BE=HA=+—HLFE
2024 2023
—E-NF —ET-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Revenue Wz 148,231 157,048
Cost of sales SHE R AR (114,085) (113,630)
Gross profit EH 34,146 43,418
Other income E AU A 3,526 4,253
Impairment losses under expected FEHEEEEREXTETH
credit loss model, net BEEE TR (4,000) (4,307)
Other gains and losses H e g E (5,011) 450
Selling and distribution expenses SHE Ry (8,551) (9,523)
Administrative expenses TR (40,249) (39,772)
Finance costs B & P AR (1,189) (1,035)
Loss before tax BR A5 A B 1B (21,328) (6,516)
Taxation (charge) credit 1A (i) e (1,233) 2,940
Loss for the year FANEBA (22,561) (3,576)
Total comprehensive expense FREMABX
for the year (25,056) (8,436)
BREERRARAR
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Revenue for the Group has decreased from approximately HK$157.0
million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$148.2
million for the Year, a decrease of approximately HK$8.8 million or 5.6%.
The decrease in revenue is primarily caused by the challenging business
environment in Hong Kong, leading to a lower level of construction works
and projects available during the Year when compared with the year
ended 31 March 2023, resulting in a lower than expected demand for our
products.

The Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately HK$9.3 million, or
21.4%, to approximately HK$34.1 million for the Year, from approximately
HK$43.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2023, primarily due to the
decrease in revenue as mentioned above. Gross profit margin was
approximately 23.0% for the Year as compared to gross profit margin of
approximately 27.6% for the year ended 31 March 2023. The decrease
in gross profit margin is mainly due to the challenging business
environment in Hong Kong during the Year, which has exerted pressure
on the selling prices of our products in the manufacturing and trading of
DTH rockdrilling tools segment.

The Group recorded net other losses of approximately HK$5.0 million for
the Year as compared to the net other gains of approximately HK$0.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2023. This was mainly attributable to
the loss on fair value changes of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss for the Year of approximately HK$3.1 million (2023:
approximately HK$1.7 million), and the write down of inventories of
approximately HK$2.0 million (2023: reversal of write down of
approximately HK$0.4 million) during the Year.

As at 31 March 2024, the fair value of the listed securities held by the
Company amounted to approximately HK$20.3 million (31 March 2023:
approximately HK$23.3 million). Dividend income of approximately
HK$1.1 million were received from the investment of listed securities
during the Year (2023: approximately HK$1.1 million). Save as disclosed
in this report, there was no other additional acquisition or disposal of
listed securities during the Year.
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The Group regularly monitors its investment performance and make
appropriate investment decisions regularly. In addition, the Group would
allocate part of its idle resources from time to time to purchase principal-
guaranteed wealth management products to increase its overall return.

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses decreased by
approximately HK$1.0 million, or 10.2%, to approximately HK$8.6 million
for the Year, from approximately HK$9.5 million for the year ended 31
March 20283, mainly due to the decrease in freight, transportation and
storage costs as a result of the decrease in revenue during the Year.

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately HK$0.5
million, or 1.2%, to approximately HK$40.2 million for the Year, from
approximately HK$39.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2023,
primarily due to the increase in staff costs during the Year.

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$22.6 million for the
Year as compared to the net loss of approximately HK$3.6 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023. This was mainly attributable to the decrease
in revenue and gross profit, and increase in loss on fair value changes of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, write down on
inventories, freight, transportation and storage costs, staff costs and
taxation charge during the Year.

During the Year, the Group continued to develop its various business and
geographical segments. In Hong Kong, the business environment had
remained stagnant due to the uncertain economic outlook.

Internationally, as the Group continues to develop the international
markets, it is expected the revenue generated from international
customers will increase as a result.

Overall, the Group is cautious towards the future of the construction
market and the business of the Group in Hong Kong. At the international
level, the Group will continue its efforts to capture business opportunities
in the overseas markets.
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As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s total cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$46.6 million of which approximately
87.52%, 10.58%, 1.89% and 0.01% of the cash and cash equivalents
were denominated in Hong Kong dollar, Renminbi, United States dollar
and Euro respectively (31 March 2023: approximately HK$66.0 million of
which approximately 67.8%, 27.6%, 2.5% and 2.1% of the cash and
cash equivalents were denominated in Hong Kong dollar, Renminbi,
United States dollar and Euro respectively.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had bank borrowings of approximately
HK$10.0 million (31 March 2023: approximately HK$13.2 million) with
variable interest rate, which were repayable within one year and were
guaranteed by the Company. As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s other
borrowing of approximately HK$13.0 million (31 March 2023:
approximately HK$15.0 million) had fixed interest rate of 1.0% (31 March
2023: 1.0%) per annum and was repayable within one year, which was
unsecured. As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings and
other borrowing were denominated in Hong Kong dollar (31 March 2023:
denominated in Hong Kong dollar and United States dollar).

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2024 (defined as the
Group’s total interest-bearing liabilities divided by the Group’s total
equity) was approximately 21.9% (31 March 2023: approximately 22.4%).
The decrease in gearing ratio is mainly due to the decrease in bank and
other borrowings during the Year.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$38,000,000 and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
380,000,000 of HK$0.1 each.

During the Year, there was no change to the authorised and issued share
capital of the Company.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have plan for material investment
and capital assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B oA

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there has been no significant
investment, material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and associated
companies by the Group during the Year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has not had any material contingent liability as at 31 March
2023 and 31 March 2024.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024, the Group had no capital
commitments.

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had bank borrowings of approximately
HK$10.0 million (31 March 2023: approximately HK$13.2 million) which
were guaranteed by the Company.

CASH FLOW MANAGEMENT AND LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group’s objective regarding cash flow management is to maintain a
balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through a
combination of internal resources, bank borrowings, and other debt or
equity securities, as appropriate. The Group is comfortable with the
present financial and liquidity position, and will continue to maintain a
reasonable liquidity buffer to ensure sufficient funds are available to meet
liquidity requirements at all times.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Our Group’s operations are mainly in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), and most of the operating transactions,
revenue, expenses, monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. As such, the Directors are of the view
that the Group’s risk in foreign exchange is insignificant and that we
should have sufficient resources to meet foreign exchange requirements
as and if it arises. The Group has not engaged in any derivative to hedge
its exposure to foreign exchange risk.
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The net proceeds from the public offer received by the Company, after
deduction of the underwriting commissions and other related listing
expenses payable by the Company in the public offer, were
approximately HK$88.3 million.

The Company had utilised all the net proceeds of approximately HK$88.3
million and there are no unutilised net proceeds as at 31 March 2023 and
31 March 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had approximately 88 employees (31
March 2023: approximately 87 employees) in Hong Kong and the PRC.
The Group’s remuneration policy is reviewed periodically and determined
by reference to market terms, company performance, and individual
qualifications and performance. Other staff benefits include bonuses
awarded on discretionary basis, mandatory provident fund scheme for
Hong Kong employees, and state-sponsored retirement plans for PRC
employees. The Group also offers a variety of training schemes to its
employees.
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The Company focuses on maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance for purposes of enhancing the value for its shareholders and
protecting their interests. The Company has established the corporate
governance structure in accordance with the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) provided in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules and has set up a series of corporate governance
measures. The Company has adopted and complied with such provisions
of the Code (the “Code Provision(s)”) as stated in the Code during the
Year except for the Code Provision of C.2.1.

In accordance with Code Provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Company currently does not have any officer with the title of chairman or
chief executive. The functions of chairman and chief executive officer
were performed by the Executive Directors and the general manager
respectively. Notwithstanding the aforementioned, the Board will review
the current structure from time to time and as and when appropriate if
candidate with suitable leadership, knowledge, skills and experience is
identified, the Company may make the necessary modification to the
management structure.

The Board will examine and review, from time to time, the Company’s
corporate governance practices and operations in order to meet the
relevant provisions under the Listing Rules and to protect the
shareholders’ interests.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
C3 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as its code of conduct for regulating
securities transactions by Directors. Following a specific enquiry to all
Directors by the Company, all Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.
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As at 31 March 2024 and the date of this report, the Board comprises (i)
two Executive Directors, namely Mr. Chui Kwong Kau and Ms. Li Kai Lai
Miranda; and (i) three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Cheung Sze Ming, Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe and Mr. Yiu To Wa.

An updated list of the Directors and their roles and functions is published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and of the
Company (www.yukwing.com) respectively.

There are no financial, business, family or other material relationships
among members of the Board.

During the Year, the Company has at least three Independent Non-
executive Directors (representing at least one-third of the Board), in
compliance with the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of
the Listing Rules and among whom, at least one Independent Non-
executive Director possess professional qualifications or accounting
knowledge or professional knowledge related to finance management.
The Board believes there is sufficient independence element in the Board
to safeguard the interest of Shareholders.

After taking into consideration of the factors regarding the evaluation of
the independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and the annual written confirmation of
independence given by each of the Independent Non-executive Directors,
the Company is of the view that all Independent Non-executive Directors
meet the guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and are independent.

The Company has put in place mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board. All the Directors, including the
Independent Non-executive Directors, have the right to express their
views to the Board and separately and independently access to the
management of the Group to make informed decisions. The Directors are
entitled to seek advice from the company secretary of the Company or,
upon reasonable request, seek independent professional advice at the
Company’s expenses to assist the Directors to discharge their duties to
the Company. All Independence Non-executive Directors attended all the
meetings of the Board and its relevant committees held during the Year.
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Any Director or his/her associate who has a conflict of interest in a matter
to be considered by the Board will be dealt with by a physical Board
meeting rather than by written resolutions. Such Director will be required
to declare his/her interests before the meeting and abstain from voting
and not counted towards the quorum on the relevant resolutions.
Independent non-executive Directors who, and whose associates, have
no interest in the matter should attend the Board meeting.

The Board has reviewed and considered that the mechanisms are
effective in ensuring that independent views and input are provided to the
Board during the Year.

The Board has an ultimate oversight of the Group’s activities. Its primary
functions are to set and direct the Company’s strategy and to monitor
and measure the management’s performance. The Board is accountable
for the overall strategic development of the Group with the objective to
enhance shareholder value. Material matters are reserved for the Board’s
considerations or decisions which include, among other things, overall
strategy of the Group, business plans, annual budgets, significant capital
expenditure, interim and annual results and reports, dividend policy and
payments, material acquisitions, disposals or investment proposals,
directors’ appointments, re-appointments or removal, and other material
transactions.

The Board has delegated certain of its responsibilities to the Audit and
Compliance Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee. It has also delegated the day-to-day operations
of the Group’s business to the senior management.
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The senior management is responsible for the specific implementation of
the resolutions of the Board and of the daily business management and
operations of the Group, which includes formulating (i) the Company’s
operating plan and investment proposal; (i) the plan of establishing the
internal management authority; (i) the basic management system of the
Company; and (iv) the Company’s specific regulations. The Executive
Directors and senior executives meet regularly to review the performance
of the businesses of the Group as a whole, co-ordinate overall resources
and make financial and operational decisions. The Board also gives clear
directions as to their powers of management including circumstances
where management should report back, and will review the delegation
arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate
to the needs of the Group.

Pursuant to the Code Provision C.5.1 of the Code, the Board should
meet regularly and Board meetings should be held at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals. Agenda of Board meetings are
presented to the Directors for comments and approval. Each Director
may include any item in the agenda. The Board is provided with
adequate, timely and reliable information about the Group’s business and
developments before each Board meeting at which the Directors actively
participate and hold informed discussions. A notice of regular board
meeting shall be given to all directors at least 14 days before the meeting
is convened pursuant to the requirements of the Code, and such notice
shall state the date, time and venue of the meeting to be convened and
the format to be adopted of such meeting. Other interim Board meetings
have reasonable notices be delivered to all Directors.

The quorum for a Board meeting shall be the presence of two Directors.
The Directors may participate in any meeting of the Board either in
person or through electronic means of communications, for the purpose
of counting a quorum, such participation shall constitute presence at a
meeting as if those participating were present in person. The secretary of
the Company’s Board is responsible for preparing and safekeeping the
minutes of the Board meetings and ensuring that the Directors can
enquire about such minutes.
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8 Board meetings, 3 Audit and Compliance Committee meetings, 2 HRMEHR » KAABGRITN\AEELEH
Remuneration Committee meetings, 2 Nomination Committee meetings = XE&Z LA HRE f_\@/a\u% CMRFMEE
and one general meeting were held during the Reporting Period. &&:#% MARZZEEENL —XIKREKX
Attendances of these meetings by Directors held during the Yearare set € - RAEE - B2 HEZST 20BN
out below: K
Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held for
the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-_Z-=F=-A=+t-HLFEHREERY ETEERY
Audit and
Compliance Remuneration = Nomination General
Board Committee Committee = Committee  meetings
BERR
Directors - EEg GHEEE FMZEE REEEE KREAE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau EREE 77 NATEA N/AT i A N/AT 8 A 1/1
Ms. Li Kai Lai Miranda TEBRTL 7/8 N/ATNiE A N/A T E A N/ANE A 11
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
Directors
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming REFEELE N/ATiE A N/AT A N/AZ i A NATEA NATEA

(appointed on 31 January 2024) (R-ZF-p4F
—A=+—HEZHF)
Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe %%?ﬁ?ﬁi N/ATE N/AT A N/ANE F NATER NATEA
(appointed on 31 January 2024) (R=ZF=—pF
—A=+—HEZHF)

Mr. Yiu To Wa S e 8/8 3/3 2/2 2/2 11
Ms. Lam Hoi Yu Nicki Mslin e+ 7/8 3/3 2/2 2/2 11
(resigned on 31 January 2024) (R=F=—pF
—HA=+—HFT)
Mr. Lau Leong Yuen ZERAAE 7/8 3/3 1/2 1/2 11
(resigned on 31 January 2024) (R=ZF=—pF
—HA=+—HFT)

Each of the Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the & EEDHEAR QT E(E K - BiE4H8]
Company. Each of them is subject to his retirement by rotation and re- ~ H & E BERARNTRRBAFAE LHRESE
election at an annual general meeting of the Company in accordance BT IBIEMHBIES3Q) K EETH
with the Articles. Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles, the Board shalll %T E—y LEREZEFEMNATAEES  UIER
have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any personasa ZEEZgHETRFHAERBESTSNNILE
Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an additonalto = - HEEF@EFNERBGE =R EER
the existing Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual FEESHHIZEENEAES  E(FHE
vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until A BIEAA G FTEREBAEAS AL BFE
the next following annual general meeting of the Company respectively R IRIEAREIRT A B EIE BT -

and shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting in accordance

with the Articles.

2023/24 FR



Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting
of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being, shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 83(5) of the Articles, the members of the Company
may, at any general meetings convened and held in accordance with the
Articles, remove a Director by ordinary resolution at any time before the
expiration of his period of office notwithstanding anything to the contrary
in the Articles or in any agreement between the Company and such
Director.

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming and Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe were appointed as
the Independent Non-executive Directors on 31 January 2024
respectively. Each of them confirmed prior to their appointment, on 30
January 2024, that they have obtained the legal advice as referred to
under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules and also understood their
obligations, duties and responsibilities of a director of the Company under
the Listing Rules, respectively.

Each newly appointed Director is provided with comprehensive induction
to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the operations and
businesses of the Group as well as the director’s duties, responsibilities,
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

During the Year, the Directors were provided with regular updates on the
Group’s business and operation and the information which covered
topics, including but not limited to, the Code, disclosure and compliance
of inside information, updates and changes in relation to legislative and
regulatory requirements in which the Group conducts its business, and
reading materials which are relevant to their duties and responsibilities for
their study and reference. During the Year, all Directors have participated
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills pursuant to the Code Provision C.1.4 of the Code.
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The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
including:

(i) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(i)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(i) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and

(v)  toreview the Company’s compliance with the Code.

The Board had performed the above duties during the Year.
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Our Board delegates certain responsibilities to various committees. In
accordance with relevant laws, regulations, the Articles of Association
and the certain rules and regulations, we have formed three board
committees, namely the Audit and Compliance Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

The Company has established the Audit and Compliance Committee with
written terms of reference in accordance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules and the Code. The Audit and Compliance Committee consists of
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung
Joe (being the chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee,
appointed on 31 January 2024), Mr. Cheung Sze Ming (appointed on 31
January 2024) and Mr. Yiu To Wa. Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe and Mr. Yiu
To Wa possesses the appropriate professional and accounting
qualifications. Ms. Lam Hoi Yu Nicki and Mr. Lau Leong Yuen ceased to
be the members of the Audit and Compliance Committee since their
resignation as Independent Non-executive Directors on 31 January 2024
respectively. Mr. Yiu To Wa has been re-designated from the chairman to
the member of the Audit and Compliance Committee with effect from 31
January 2024.

The principal duties of the Audit and Compliance Committee include,
among other things, (i) recommending to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the Company’s external auditor and on
its remuneration; (i) reviewing the Company’s interim and annual financial
statements and other financial reports; and (iii) reviewing the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control procedures (including
monitoring the effectiveness of the internal audit function) and risk
management system.

During the Year, the Audit and Compliance Committee held 3 meetings
with the independent auditors and the senior management of the
Company to consider the independence and audit scope of independent
auditor, and to review and discuss the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
audit and risk control function, consolidated interim and annual financial
statements of the Group and the opinion and report of independent
auditor before reporting and submitting to the Board for their approval.
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The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in accordance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and
the Code. The Remuneration Committee consists of three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Sze Ming (being the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, appointed on 31 January
2024), Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe (appointed on 31 January 2024) and Mr.
Yiu To Wa. Ms. Lam Hoi Yu Nicki and Mr. Lau Leong Yuen ceased to be
the chairman and the member of the Remuneration Committee since
their resignation as Independent Non-executive Directors on 31 January
2024 respectively.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
establish and review the policy and structure of the remuneration for the
Directors and senior management, to establish the performance
evaluation standard, procedures and system, to annually evaluate the
performance of the Directors and senior management, to make
corresponding recommendations to the Board, and to perform other
duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

The emoluments of the Executive Directors are determined based on the
skills, knowledge, individual performance as well as contributions, the
scope of responsibility and accountability of such Directors, taking into
consideration the Company’s performance and prevailing market
conditions. The remuneration policy of the Independent Non-executive
Directors is to ensure that they are adequately compensated for their
efforts and time dedicated to the Company’s affairs including their
participation in respective Board committees. The emoluments of
Independent Non-executive Directors are determined with reference to
their skills, experience, knowledge, duties and market trends. The
remuneration of Directors and senior management is reviewed at least
annually.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings to review
the remuneration structure of the Directors and senior management and
made recommendation to the Board for approval.

Details of the remuneration payable to members of senior management
by band for the Year are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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The Company has established the Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in accordance with Rules 3.27A of the Listing Rules
and the Code. The Nomination Committee consists of three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Sze Ming (being the
chairman of the Nomination Committee, appointed on 31 January 2024),
Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe (appointed on 31 January 2024) and Mr. Yiu To
Wa. Mr. Lau Leong Yuen and Ms. Lam Hoi Yu Nicki ceased to be the
chairman and the member of the Nomination Committee since their
resignation as Independent Non-executive Directors on 31 January 2024
respectively.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to review
the scale, structure and composition of the Board and the board diversity
policy adopted by the Company on a regular basis, to consider and
recommend to the Board suitable and qualified candidates of the director
and senior management, to review the independence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors, and to perform other duties and responsibilities
as assigned by the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held 2 meetings (i) to review
and consider the structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board;
(i) to assess the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors;
(iii) to consider the re-election of Directors at the annual general meeting;
(iv) to consider of suitable independent non-executive director candidates
for joining the Company; and (v) to recommend the aforesaid matters to
the Board for approval.

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) since the Listing Date. With a view to achieving a sustainable
and balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the
Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of the
Board members and compliance with relevant codes governing board
diversity under the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee and the
Board will monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and
review the Board Diversity Policy and the Board composition under
diversified perspectives annually to ensure its continued effectiveness.
The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

During the Year, the Board, through the Nomination Committee, has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy and the composition of the Board, and concluded that the
Company had met the diversification requirements with regard to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. When making the appointment and re-appointment of
Directors in the future, the Nomination Committee will nominate new
Directors pursuant to the requirements of the Board Diversity Policy to
achieve the objective of diversity in Board members.

The Company has also taken steps to promote gender diversity at all
levels of the Company, including but not limited to the Board and the
management levels. During the Year and as at the date of this report, at
least 1 out of the 5 Directors is female. The Board will use its best
endeavour to maintain the gender diversity at the Board and at mid to
senior level of the Group.

Gender ratio in the workforce is set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) Report of the Company to be published at the same
time as this annual report is published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company respectively. The Group make its best
endeavour to encourage gender diversity since recruitment and selection
process and across its workplace.
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The Board has also adopted the nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and nomination procedures
to identify, select and recommend candidates for directorships.

When assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate to the Board
regarding the appointment or re-appointment of any existing director(s) of
the Board, the Nomination Committee should consider the following
factors:

° The candidate should be of good character, integrity and
competent to act as director of the Company;

° The candidate should possess qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to
the Group’s business and corporate strategy;

° The candidate should be able to devote sufficient time to discharge
duties as a Board member and other directorships and significant
commitments;

° The candidates should be considered on merit, against objective
criteria and with due regard to the diversity perspectives set out in
the Board Diversity Policy of the Company; and

° The candidates for independent non-executive directorship should
meet the “independence” criteria as required under the Listing
Rules and the composition of the Board is in conformity with the
provisions of the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee may also consider such other factors as it

may deem are in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole.
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The Nomination Committee shall utilise various methods for
identifying candidates for directorship, including recommendations
from Board members, management, and professional search firms;

The Nomination Committee shall consider candidates for
directorship properly submitted by the Shareholders;

The Nomination Committee shall undertake adequate due diligence
in respect of appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board,
prior to making recommendations for the Board’s consideration
and approval;

The Nomination Committee shall consider and recommend to the
Board the re-election of any existing Director(s) for the proposed
candidates at the general meeting; and

The Board shall make recommendation to the Shareholders in
respect of the proposed re-election of director at the general
meeting.
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The Board and the senior management are accountable for the overall
responsibility in respect of monitoring the implementation of internal
control and risk management procedures and other measures in the
Group. The Company’s risk management and internal control system
aims at managing but not eliminating the risk of not being able to achieve
the business objectives. Moreover, only reasonable but not absolute
warranties can be given for statements which are not materially untrue or
will not result in material losses.

The Board has conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems through
discussion with the Audit and Compliance Committee. The Board
believed that the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems are effective and sufficient, and is satisfied that the Group has
fully complied with the Code in respect of internal controls during the
Year.

We have appointed external professional advisors (including the auditor
or other advisors) for provision of professional advice in respect of how
we observe applicable laws and regulations.

The Board has reviewed the need for an internal audit function and is of
the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of
the Group, it would be more cost effective to appoint external
independent professionals to perform internal audit function for the Group
in order to meet its needs.
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During the Year, the Group appointed BT Corporate Governance Limited
(“BTCGL”) to:

° assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group, including
ESG-related risks, through a series of discussions and interviews;
and

° independently perform internal control review and assess the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment were reported to
the Audit and Compliance Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures as
recommended by BTCGL to enhance the risk management and internal
control systems, and risk mitigating measures of the Group were adopted
by the Board. Based on the findings and recommendations of BTCGL,
as well as the comments from the Audit and Compliance Committee, the
Board considered the internal control and risk management systems are
effective and adequate.

The Group has established its enterprise risk management framework.
While the Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound and
effective internal controls are maintained, management is responsible for
designing and implementing internal control systems to manage all kinds
of risks faced by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks are
identified, assessed, prioritised and treated. The Group’s risk
management framework follows the COSO Enterprise Risk Management
— Integrated Framework, which allows the Board and management to
manage the risks of the Group effectively. The Board receives regular
reports through the Audit and Compliance Committee that oversees risk
management and internal audit functions.
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The Group adopts a “three lines of defence model” corporate governance
structure with operational management and controls performed by
operations management, coupled with risk management monitoring
carried out by the finance team and independent internal audit function
outsourced to and conducted by BTCGL. The Group has adopted risk
management policy and procedures (the “Risk Management Policy”)
and maintains a risk register to keep track of all identified major risks of
the Group. The risk register provides the Board, the Audit and
Compliance Committee, and management with a profile of its major risks
and records management’s action taken to mitigate the relevant risks.
Each risk is evaluated at least annually based on its likelihood of
occurrence and potential impact upon the Group. The risk register is
updated by management as the risk owners with addition of new risks
and/or removal of existing risks, if applicable, at least annually, after the
annual risk evaluation has been performed. This review process can
ensure that the Group proactively manages the risks faced by it in the
sense that all risk owners have access to the risk register and are aware
of and alert to those risks in their area of responsibility so that they can
take follow-up action in an efficient and timely manner.

The Group’s risk management activities are performed by management
on an ongoing basis. The effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
framework is evaluated at least annually, and periodic management
meeting is held to update the progress of risk monitoring efforts.
Management is committed to ensure that risk management forms part of
the daily business operation processes in order to align risk management
with corporate goals in an effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent professionals
to review the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management
annually to further enhance the Group’s internal control and risk
management systems as appropriate.
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The Company places a great emphasis on inside information
management. For purposes of strengthening the confidentiality of inside
information, maintaining the fairness of information disclosure and
protecting the legal interests and rights of the vast number of investors,
the Company’s information disclosure system and mechanism is
established in accordance with the Listing Rules, the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)
and domestic or foreign laws, regulations and other regulatory
requirements. Since the Listing Date, the Company has strictly developed
information disclosure pursuant to the regulatory requirements and
expressly stipulated that the Board shall manage in uniform manner and
be responsible for the Company’s information disclosure. Moreover,
detailed provisions in respect of the managerial responsibility of the
Directors, senior management and officers in charge of branches or
subsidiaries shall be made.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also
acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the Group’s
consolidated financial statements are published in a timely manner.

For the Year, the Company has appointed Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited,
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors, to provide the Company with
auditing service and the remuneration amounted to approximately
HK$0.6 million. The responsibilities of Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as
to the consolidated financial statements are set out on pages 53 to 55 of
this annual report.

Non-audit services provided to the Group during the Year of
approximately HK$0.2 million for review of interim results and
approximately HK$0.1 million for other non-audit services.

During the Year, Ms. Choi Yee Man has undertaken not less than 15
hours relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules. The biography of Ms. Choi Yee Man is set out in the
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual
report.
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In accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association of the
Company, the Shareholders shall be entitled to the following right: Any
one or more Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director by the
Shareholders, please refer to the procedures available on the website of
the Company.

There is no provision in the Articles of Association setting out procedures
for the Shareholders to put forward new resolutions at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a new resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph heading “Convening an
extraordinary general meeting”.

Shareholders are entitled to make enquiries of which the Board should
pay attention, directly to the Company at its principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Unit B, 13/F., Eton Building, 288 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong. The Company will deal with all enquiries in a timely and
appropriate manner.
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The Company believes that balanced, clear, transparent and effective
communications with the Shareholders is essential to enhancement of
the relationship with investors and enhancement of investors’
understanding of the Company’s business and strategies. The Company
highly values Shareholders’ opinions and suggestions, and actively
organises and conducts various activities related to the relationship with
investors in order to keep the communications with Shareholders, and to
timely satisfy the reasonable demands of all Shareholders.

To enhance effective communication, the Company maintains its website
at www.yukwing.com where latest information on the Company’s
business operations and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available for public
access.

The Company’s general meeting provides a useful platform for direct
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The
Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings of the
Company. Sufficient notice of general meetings will be given to the
Shareholders in accordance with the Articles and applicable rules and
regulations. The Directors, chairman of each Board committee,
management of the Company and, if appropriate, the external auditors,
will attend the general meetings and answer questions raised by the
Shareholders.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, an annual general meeting of the
Company was held on 16 August 2023 at which all the Directors
attended either by person or by means of electronic facilities to
communicate with the Shareholders. All corporate communications and
regulatory announcements were published on the websites of the
Company the Stock Exchange in a timely manner. The Board has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders
communication policy, and considered that the shareholders
communication policy has been properly implemented and effective
during the Year.
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The Company believes that good relationship with investors may help
build more stable and consolidated shareholder base. As a result, since
the Listing Date, the Company has been and will be dedicated to
maintaining a higher degree of transparency, observing the Listing Rules
and timely providing investors with comprehensive and accurate
information, and sustainably performing the obligation of disclosing the
information of a listed company. The Company will strengthen its
communications with investors and let investors understand corporate
strategies and business operation by organising road shows, participating
in investors summit, voluntary information disclosure and others.

The Company will continue to maintain open-up and effective investors
communication policies for purposes of timely providing investors with
the latest information on the Company’s business when the Company is
in compliance with the relevant regulatory provisions.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 16 August 2023,
a special resolution was passed by the Shareholders to adopt the
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company (the “Memorandum and Articles of Association”). The
Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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Mr. Chui Kwong Kau (“Mr. Chui”), aged 57, has been the Executive
Director since 4 June 2021. He has over 23 years of experiences in
financial management, accounting, and auditing fields. Mr. Chui is
currently a non-executive director of Boill Healthcare Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1246) and a non-executive director of Wan Kei Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1718), all of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, and an executive director of Hong Kong
Life Sciences and Technologies Group Limited (previous stock code:
8085, the securities of which had been listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange until 14 September 2020).

He was an independent non-executive director of Aurum Pacific (China)
Group Limited which is listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8148) from March 2010 to March 2016, and an executive director
of China Energy Development Holdings Limited (stock code: 228) from
October 2005 to June 2016 and a non-executive director of DeTai New
Energy Group Limited (stock code: 559) from December 2015 to March
2020, all of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chui was an executive director of Ming Lam Holdings Limited
(previous stock code: 1106) from July 2019 to August 2020, the
securities of which had been listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange until 2 November 2021. Mr. Chui was informed that Ming Lam
Holdings Limited was ordered to be wound up and an official receiver
was appointed as the provisional liquidator by the High Court of Hong
Kong on 31 August 2020. Mr. Chui confirmed that he was not a party of
such winding up proceedings and is not aware of any actual or potential
claim that has been or will be made against him as a result of the above.

Mr. Chui was a non-executive director of Hsin Chong Group Holdings
Limited (“HCGH”, previous stock code: 404) from May 2015 to March
2019 whose securities had been listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange until 31 December 2019. HCGH was wound up by an order of
the Supreme Court of Bermuda dated 20 January 2020. On 11 April
2022, the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange issued a statement
in which, among others, certain former members of the board of HCGH
have been criticized. Details of which in respect of Mr. Chui (as a former
non-executive director of HCGH) are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 13 April 2022.
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Ms. Li Kai Lai Miranda (“Ms. Li”), aged 50, has been the Executive
Director since 15 January 2021. She also holds directorship in a
subsidiary of the Company. Ms. Li obtained a Diploma in Computer
Programming and Analysis from Seneca College of Applied Arts and
Technology in Canada in June 2004. She has over 10 years of experience
in corporate management. From 2009 to 2014, she was a director of
Soho Workstation Limited, a private company which was dissolved by
deregistration in January 2018, and was mainly responsible for
formulating marketing strategies and working on ad-hoc projects related
to business centre field. From 2009 to 2022, she was a director of Trusty
Surveyors Limited, mainly responsible for rental related service to tenants
and assisting with lease renewal. Since November 2010, she has also
been a director of Soho Funds Investment Limited, mainly responsible for
providing a spectrum of yachting solutions, including insurance, berthing,
captains and crew, management and emergency support services for
luxury yacht charter. Ms. Li was an independent non-executive director of
Hing Ming Holdings Limited (stock code: 8425) which is listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange, from 9 May 2018 to 16 February 2022.

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 55, has been the
Independent Non-executive Director since 31 January 2024. He is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit and Compliance Committee. He
has over 30 years of working experience in an international audit firm and
public listed companies. Mr. Cheung holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in
Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is also a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Cheung is currently an executive director, the chief financial officer and
the company secretary of Far East Holdings International Limited (stock
code: 36) and Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (stock code: 1466), and
an independent non-executive director of Great Wall Terroir Holdings
Limited (stock code: 524), both companies whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is also an independent non-
executive director of Ocean Line Port Development Limited (stock code:
8502), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe (“Mr. Wong”), aged 59, has been the
Independent Non-executive Director since 31 January 2024. He is the
chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee. He holds a
Degree of Master of Arts in International Accounting from City University
of Hong Kong and a Master’s Degree of Corporate Governance from
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is an associate member of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Wong has extensive
experience in taxation, accounting, financing, audit field and public listed
companies for many years. Mr. Wong is currently an executive director,
chief financial officer and company secretary of DeTai New Energy Group
Limited (stock code: 559), and an independent non-executive director of
China Water Industry Group Limited (stock code: 1129) and Affluent
Partners Holdings Limited (stock code: 1466), both companies whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is also an
independent non-executive director of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8081), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive director of
Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd (stock code: 8292) from June 2016 to
June 2023, a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yiu To Wa (“Mr. Yiu”), aged 41, has been the Independent Non-
executive Director since 27 May 2020. He is a member of the Audit and
Compliance Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee. Mr. Yiu obtained his bachelor’s degree of
business administration in professional accountancy program from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2005 and has been a certified public
accountant of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
2008. He has over 15 years of experience in financial accounting and
auditing of listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Yiu is currently an
independent non-executive director of China Environmental Energy
Investment Limited (stock code: 986) and Rongzun International Holdings
Group Limited (formerly known as B & D Strategic Holdings Limited,
stock code: 1780), all of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He was an executive director of DeTai
New Energy Group Limited (stock code: 559), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from May 2021 to July 2021.

Ms. Choi Yee Man has been the company secretary of the Company
since 20 April 2018. Ms. Choi holds a bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration from The City University of Hong Kong. Ms. Choi started
her career in an international accounting firm and is a fellow member of
the HKICPA and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales. Ms. Choi possesses extensive experience in the area of
accounting, finance, auditing and corporate secretarial matters.
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The Directors hereby presents the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Company is an investment holding company and details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements. There was no significant change in the
Group’s principal activities during the Year.

Details of business review and future development of the Group’s
business are set out respectively in the sections headed “Business
Review” and “Strategy and Prospects” under “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by operating
segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The results of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
March 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income on page 56 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

Principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces include (i) risk of over-
concentration of customers and suppliers; (ii) risks related to the
increasing raw materials price and labor costs with labour shortage; (iii)
risk of reduction in market demand; and (iv) risks related to failure of
appointment of chairman and chief executive.

The Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The Group understands the success of the Group’s business depends
on the support from its key stakeholders, including employees,
customers, suppliers, banks, regulators and shareholders. During the
Year, there were no material and significant dispute between the Group
and its key stakeholders. The Group will continue to ensure effective
communication and maintain good relationship with each of its key
stakeholders. For details, please refer to the Company’s standalone
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023/24”.

Movements of the share capital of the Company during the Year are set
out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

According to the dividend policy adopted by the Company, the Board
shall consider, among others, (i) the interest of the shareholders; (ii)
statutory and regulatory restrictions; (i) the actual and expected financial
results of the Group; (iv) factors having impacts on the business or
financial performance and position of the Group; (v) the Company’s
business strategy; (vi) the current and expected operations, liquidity
position and capital requirements of the Group; and (vii) the possible
effects on the Group’s credit-worthiness, the financial covenants to which
the Group is subject and any restrictions on the payment of dividends
that may be imposed by the Group’s lenders. Further, the Company’s
declaration of dividends is also subject to the compliance with the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, the Listing Rules,
and applicable laws and regulations.

The Company will review the dividend policy from time to time and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the dividend policy. The dividend policy shall not constitute
a legally binding commitment by the Company and there is no assurance
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount in any given period.
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The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the environment
and communities in which it operates. As a responsible corporation, the
Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection, health and safety, workplace conditions and
employment and has endeavored to incorporate sustainability practices
into the policies and procedures. By adopting green operational
practices, the Group strives to reduce the environmental impacts caused
by the operations.

The Company will publish an ESG Report on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with the Shares
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group’s
subsidiaries are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong and
the PRC. The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Group’s
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and China while the Group also has a
corporate and administrative office in Hong Kong.

Its establishments and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant
laws and regulations in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands, the
PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance with the applicable rules
and regulations. To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group
during the Year. There was no material breach of or non-compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations by the Group for the Year.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where the
Company is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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The details in relation to the changes in the reserves of the Group during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 59 of this annual report. The Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2024 are approximately
HK$59,747,000.

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group is
set out on page 148 of this annual report.

Details of the movements during the Year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of the Group’s bank and other borrowings during the Year are set
out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau
Ms. Li Kai Lai Miranda

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming (appointed on 31 January 2024)
Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe (appointed on 31 January 2024)
Mr. Yiu To Wa

Ms. Lam Hoi Yu Nicki (resigned on 31 January 2024)

Mr. Lau Leong Yuen (resigned on 31 January 2024)

The profiles of Directors who are in office as at the date of this report are
set out on pages 33 to 35 of this annual report.

The Company has received the annual confirmations of the independence
from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and is of the opinion that all
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EERE

DIRECTORS (continued)

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, Ms. Li Kai
Lai Miranda as the Executive Director shall retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and she, being eligible, will offer
herself for re-election.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Cheung
Sze Ming and Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe as the Independent Non-
executive Directors shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and each of them, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election respectively.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

No Director eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Group which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

The details of the remuneration of the Company’s Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (AND THEIR CONNECTED
ENTITIES) IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors (and their
connected entities) is or was materially interested, directly or indirectly, in
any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance entered into by
the Company or its controlling shareholders or any of their respective
subsidiaries at any time during the Reporting Period or subsisted at the
end of the Year.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors nor their associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) had any competing interests in such business that is in
direct or indirect competition with any of the Group’s business.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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Save as disclosed in this report, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
Directors is a director or employee of a company which has an interest or
short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of
Divisions 2 and 3 Part XV of the SFO, and none of the Directors, the chief
executive of the Company nor their associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) had any other interests or short positions in the shares of the
Company, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
(i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which any such Director or the chief executive of the
Company is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
or (i) were required to be entered into the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO; or (iii) were
required to be notified to the Company or the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.
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As at 31 March 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons/entities (other than Directors or chief executive of the
Company) had or were deemed or taken to have interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register of interests and short positions of substantial
shareholders required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section
336 of the SFO:

RZEZMFE=ZRA=+—H FOAERAR
BEAFAMAEIRFIEBCIEMTATETFEMNE
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MR O EEERIOAE

Approximate
percentage of the total

Number of Shares

issued share capital of

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest (share)® the Company (%)
HARRABERITRAE
R & EmME REOEE (R BEAHEOE DL (%)
Colour Shine Beneficial owner 188,192,000 (L) 49.52%
w1 EnEEA 188,192,000 (S)© 49.52%
Mr. He Xiaoming® Interest of a controlled corporation 188,192,000 (L) 49.52%
Al KA E@ R A E 188,192,000 (S)@ 49.52%
Mr. Huang Shixin Beneficial owner 27,304,000 (L) 7.19%
BHEEEAE EnHAA
Mr. Chan Leung Choi Beneficial owner 19,188,000 (L) 5.05%
BRERMS 52 A En#B A
Table Notes: KM -

1) The Letter “L” denotes a person’s long position (as defined under part XV of
the SFO) in such Shares. The Letter “S” denotes a person’s short position
(as defined under part XV of the SFO) in such Shares.

2) 188,192,000 Shares are held by Colour Shine whose entire issued share
capital is held by Mr. He Xiaoming. Mr. He Xiaoming is also the sole director
of Colour Shine as at 31 March 2024.

(8  Colour Shine has charged 188,192,000 Shares to Kingston Securities
Limited as security as at 31 March 2024 pursuant to the share charge
entered into between Kingston Securities Limited as chargee and Colour
Shine as charger dated 1 February 2018.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND/OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors were not
aware of any persons/entities (other than Directors or chief executive of
the Company) who/which had or were deemed or taken to have any
other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register of interests and short positions of
substantial shareholders required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the Year, the Group did not enter into any contracts in respect of
the management and administration of all or any significant portion of the
business (except for such service contracts entered into with the Group’s
Directors and all employees) and there existed no such contracts in
respect of the management and administration of all or any significant
portion of the business (except for such service contracts entered into
with the Group’s Directors and all employees).

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

We have entered into some transactions with connected persons of the
Company. In accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, such
transactions have constituted the connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Company.
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Top Champion Industries Limited entered into the following lease
agreements with Top Mark Mechanical Equipment Limited (“Top Mark”)
(the “Lease Agreements”), pursuant to which Top Champion Industries
Limited as lessor agreed to lease to Top Mark as lessee the following
three premises (the “Chai Wan Premises”):

a.  Top Champion Industries Limited entered into a lease agreement
with Top Mark on 1 December 2015 in relation to the premises
situated at Unit 9, 15/F, Honour Industrial Centre, 6 Sun Yip Street,
Chai Wan, Hong Kong for use as our industrial warehouse in Hong
Kong for a term of 2 years. The lease was renewed. The terms and
agreed monthly rental of the lease are set out belows:

Agreed monthly rental
(excluding government
rates, utilities,
management fees
Terms and other outgoings)

from 1 December 2015 to

30 November 2017 HK$21,900
from 1 December 2017 to

30 November 2019 HK$21,900
from 1 December 2019 to

30 November 2020 HK$27,000
from 1 December 2020 to

30 November 2021 HK$27,000
from 1 December 2021 to

30 November 2022 HK$27,000
from 1 December 2022 to

30 November 2023 HK$27,000
from 1 December 2023 to

30 November 2024 HK$27,000
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Top Champion Industries Limited entered into a lease agreement
with Top Mark on 25 March 2020 in relation to the premises
situated at Unit 2, 15/F, Honour Industrial Centre, 6 Sun Yip Street,
Chai Wan, Hong Kong for use as our operation team office in Hong
Kong for a term of 1 year. The lease was renewed. The terms and
agreed monthly rental of the lease are set out belows:

Agreed monthly rental
(excluding government
rates, utilities,
management fees
Terms and other outgoings)

from 1 April 2020 to

31 March 2021 HK$19,740
from 1 April 2021 to

31 March 2022 HK$19,740
from 1 April 2022 to

31 March 2023 HK$19,740
from 1 April 2023 to

31 March 2024 HK$21,100

Top Champion Industries Limited entered into a lease agreement
with Top Mark on 25 March 2020 in relation to the premises
situated at Unit 10, 25/F, Honour Industrial Centre, 6 Sun Yip
Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong for use as our operation team office
in Hong Kong for a term of 1 year. The lease was renewed. The
terms and agreed monthly rental of the lease are set out belows:

Agreed monthly rental
(excluding government
rates, utilities,
management fees
Terms and other outgoings)

from 1 April 2020 to

31 March 2021 HK$20,850
from 1 April 2021 to

31 March 2022 HK$20,850
from 1 April 2022 to

31 March 2023 HK$20,850
from 1 April 2023 to

31 March 2024 HK$22,240
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Top Champion Industries Limited is a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability on 16 July 1999, and is owned as to 95% by
Mr. Chan Leung Choi. Mr. Chan Leung Choi holds director positions at
certain subsidiaries of our Group. Therefore, Top Champion Industries
Limited is an associate of a connected person of our Company by virtue
of Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of the Listing Rules.

Our rental expenses (excluding government rates, utilities, management
fees and other outgoings) in relation to the leasing of the Chai Wan
Premises for the Year are approximately HK$844,080.

The rental amounts payable by Top Mark under the Lease Agreements
were determined with reference to the prevailing market rent at that time
for similar premises. Our Directors (including our Independent Non-
executive Directors) consider that it is in the interests of our Company
and Shareholders as a whole to enter into the Lease Agreements.

Since each of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profit ratio)
for the Lease Agreements is less than 5% on an annual basis, the total
consideration is less than HK$3,000,000, and the transaction is on
normal commercial terms, the transaction is fully exempt from the
reporting, annual review, announcement, circular, and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Details of the retirement and employee benefits plans of the Group are
set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

Being a company listed on the Stock Exchange, the Company is always
dedicated to maintaining the corporate governance practices at a high
level. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 13 to
32 of this annual report.

Based on publicly available information and to the knowledge of the
Directors, there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s
issued shares throughout the year and as at the date of this annual
report, in compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

During the Year, the revenue attributable to our top five customers was
approximately HK$81.9 million (2023: approximately HK$99.1 million),
accounting for approximately 55.2% (2023: approximately 63.1%) of the
total revenue of the Group.

During the Year, our purchases from our top five suppliers were
approximately HK$65.7 million (2023: approximately HK$73.8 million),
accounting for approximately 89.2% (2023: approximately 82.4%) of our
total purchases.

The Group’s top five customers and suppliers during the reporting period
were independent third parties, and none of our Directors, their
associates or any shareholder (who, to the knowledge of our Directors,
owned more than 5% of our Company’s share capital as at the date of
this report) had any interest in any of our top five customers or suppliers
during the Year.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no significant events
affecting the Group after the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report.
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A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors of the
Company is currently in force and was in force throughout the Year. The
Company has taken out and maintained Directors and officers liability
insurance which provides appropriate cover for, among others, the
Directors of the Company.

The Group made charitable or other donations of approximately
HK$12,000 during the Year.

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 March
2017 to 2021 have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited has been appointed as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 5 October 2021 to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of
the Company. Save as disclosed above, there has been no other change
in the auditors of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 March
2022 to 2024 have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, who
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Li Kai Lai Miranda
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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@ pakertilly
AN 514 57] 2

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yuk Wing
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 56 to 147, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

HEREEZRERITDERRN
BYZBAERE
(REASHETMA L BRLA)

RITEEZFES6 147 BB REFHITR
ERAR (TEARA)) REKBAR (AT
BIERE])NEAMBEHRE  EFEENRZ
E_MFE=ZA=+—"HANBEAFBRRE
NEBEZRLEFENGEEEEREME2E
Wk  HARDEPHRIGEARSRE
IRERE B HRERN T (BEEREHBREE
£ e

AOIRE HREMBBRERCSREBZT LS
~RE([BEREFEAIE]) BONETEHBR
SEA((BERMBBREEEN D EEERAFR
M EEER-_Z_WF=A=+—-HHK
BRMBERRE ESXBEEEZA LFENG
EMBRALGAECRE  ADRREE
REMEPIN BB R EZL SRS -

ATECREFBSHMAGRMNEEZH
FH([BEBRBER]) ETEZ - ATTRZ
EXRABETHEFCRARSPRBMAE
ZEAMBRRAAENEE—SHPE—F
A ATTIRIEB B GRTEAAERMZER
gt ((FADB IR E&E -
ATHERBETRETEMEBREE - K17
BE ATHESHERERERRLEE
RATHERREHREE -

2023/24 FR



Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, EREZEBEARBEARITHEEHE M S -
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial RAHANPEGAUBERENESARAEE
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the HIEIE - ZEZEFERARITETBREGEATE
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, H{RENLEHERFBDEE  MATTE HZ
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate EFHER{TERER o

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

BEEXER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B 5 FE W 5k TR el B 5P

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables as a
key audit matter due to the significance of trade receivables to
the Group’s consolidated financial position and the involvement
of subjective judgment and management estimates in evaluating
the expected credit losses (“ECL”) of the Group’s trade
receivables at the end of the reporting period.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RIT2 BT TENAEEBRELRSE

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
trade receivables included:

RITERRE ZRRFARNRERN GHRF 8

° Understanding key controls on how the management
estimates the loss allowance for trade receivables;
o THREBREMGTTESEEFIESERENEE

R

° Discussing with the management and evaluating
the basis in determining credit loss allowance on
trade receivables as at 31 March 2024, including
assessing the reasonableness of the estimated loss
rates with reference to historical default rates over
the expected life of the debtors based on the
ageing analysis of trade receivable and the forward-
looking information considered by the management
of the Group;
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Key audit matter

BEEXER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B 5 B E el E

As disclosed in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements,
as at 31 March 2024, the Group’s net trade receivables
amounting to HK$53,284,000. As disclosed in Notes 4 and 29
to the consolidated financial statements, the management
estimates the amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables
individually or collectively. Except for significant balances or
credit-impaired amounts which are assessed for impairment
individually, the remaining trade receivables are grouped under a
collective assessment after considering internal credit ratings of
trade debtors, ageing, repayment history and/or past due status
of respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are based
on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for supportable forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available without
due costs or effort.
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As disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group recognised net additional amount of HK$4,000,000
of impairment of trade receivables for the year and the Group’s
lifetime ECL on trade receivables as at 31 March 2024
amounted to HK$10,146,000.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FITENF TEOMNEEBRERSEE

Testing the accuracy of information used by the
management in determining credit loss allowance
including trade receivables ageing analysis as at 31
March 2024, on a sample basis, by comparing
individual items in the analysis with the relevant
sales invoices and other supporting documents;
and
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Evaluating the disclosures regarding the impairment
assessment of trade receivables in Note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Li Man Chun Jesse.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 26 June 2024

Li Man Chun Jesse
Practising certificate number PO8302
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-Z-NF=A=+—HILFE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Impairment losses under expected credit
loss model, net

Other gains and losses

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Finance costs

Loss before tax
Taxation (charge) credit

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive expense
for the year

Notes

B 5E

Uy 28 5
HERAK

E5

H A 6
BEHEEEEEAR TRE
ERFERR 7
H o Y ak o 518 7
HE RO HAX

Bl GE3

BERA 8

BRBE AT S 18 9
IR () % 10

FREE

FRAHMZHEBX

Item that may be reclassified subsequently E {2 AJfEEF D IEZ B EH -

to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on translation

of foreign operations

Total comprehensive expense for the year

Loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive expense
for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Loss per share, basic

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

BEBINRBELNEN ZH

FRZEAARM

U AT BAEFARBIE :
RRBEE A
FEFE B HE

BLTATEEFAZEAMX :

RRBEE A
FEIEHI R

BREXEIE 13

2023

T

HK$'000
TAT

157,048
(113,630)

43,418
4,253

(4,307)
450
(9,523)
(39,772)
(1,035)

(6,516)
2,940

(3,576)

(4,860)

(8,436)

(3,504)

(72)

(3,576)

6,617)
(1,819)

(8,436)

HK cents
Al

(0.92)



At 31 March 2024 R=—ZE-_pmE=A=+—H

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Tax recoverable

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities

Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Bank and other borrowings

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

FRBEE

VE RN
EREEE
BRI E &

RBEE
FE

B 5 K EH 8 WA
BRBRE A FEARKRZ

TREE
QL {EE R
RITHEB MRS

REBEE

B 5 N E M EN IR

BHAME

FEBIR IR
RITREAMER

RBEEFE

REERRBAEE

Notes

B E

14
15
24

16
17

18

19

20
21
23

22

2023
—E-=F
HK$’000
FAT

5,296
10,254
2,416

17,966

56,471

67,067

23,349
283
65,969

213,139

9,263
3,897
2,499
72
28,210

43,941

169,198

187,164
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At 31 March 2024 R=—ZE-pmE=A=+—H

2023
ZEI=F
Notes HK$’000
{hg= FHT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHIEARE 24 102
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 9,193
9,295
Net assets EEFE 177,869
Capital and reserves EXRFHE
Share capital & A< 25 38,000
Reserves B 104,713
Equity attributable to owners RATIHEE ANEILER
of the Company 142,713
Non-controlling interests R 35,156
Total equity MR 177,869

The consolidated financial statements on pages 56 to 147 were $56E& 147 BNG AV ERRDAESTER
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 June ~ — = — P& X A =+~ B #bE R IRE T3

2024 and are signed on its behalf by: W TIEEREEE
Chui Kwong Kau Li Kai Lai Miranda
BRI Z=E
Director Director
EFE EF

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24



For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-Z-NF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG 2PN,
Non-
Share Share  Merger  Statutory Exchange Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits ~ Sub-total interests Total
BA  ROEE fHERE LERE EXRE  AbEE  REEN Nt FENER a3t
HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$O000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEr  Thn TEr TR TEr  TEn TEr TEr TEr TR
(note ) (note i (note i
(et (W) (Rstii)
At1 April 2022 R-E-CE
MA-A 3,000 124553 (67,09) 2,194 1928 19 49732 149330 36975 186,305
Loss for the year ENER - - - - - - (3,504) (3,504) 1) (3,576)
Exchange differences arisngon A E BN EBEL
franslation of foreign operations ) 5 2% - - - - (3,119 - - (3,113 (1,747) (4,860)
Total comprehensive expense  ER2ELEEY
for the year - - - - (3,113 - (3,504) (6,617) (1819 (8,436)
Transfer R - - - 657 - - 657) - - -
At 31 March 2023 H-BzZF
ZA=t-H 38,000 124,583 (67,096) 2,851 (1,189) 19 45571 142,713 35,156 177,869
Loss for the year EFNER - - - - - - (18674 (18,674) (3887)  (22,561)
Exchange differences arisngon A EGNEBFTEL
franslation of foreign operations ) ¥ £ - - - - (1,339) - - 1,339 (1,169) (2,495)
Total comprehensive expense N2 EEE Y
for the year - - - S8y Spse4 00w (BOSO)  (25056)
At 31 March 2024 R-E-M&E
ZA=t-H 38,000 124,583 (67,096) 2,851 2517) 19 20897 122,707 30,106 152,813

Note i: Amount represents difference between the nominal value of the share  Wti: ZRBIEA LR 22 EH B R A LT
capital issued by Hang Wing Holdings Limited (“Hang Wing”), a wholly- BRAR([BE]) BINEEREREHER
owned subsidiary of the Company, for the acquisition of the entire equity RAR(BR#EW]) BMIEERETEER
interests and the amount of share capital in Top Mark Mechanical AR ([HEER])  EREZIZEERQ
Equipment Limited (“Top Mark”), Tristate International Industrial Limited A1 & MAXA RockDrills Limited % &5 B% 4 ify 3%
(“Tristate International”), Top Glory Construction Equipment Limited THRAEERERERBEERAA -
and MAXA RockDrills Limited. BMERREEXRRAR EREEREBR

R A 8] & MAXA RockDrills Limited &9 % 7K
BzER-

Note ii: Amount represents statutory reserve of #ILTH B2 [@ ¥ FiE TR AR Wik KB AR A M B 2 566 L B & 3
R /2 & (Norry Tech Engineering Equipment Limited) (‘Norry Tech’), a FMETRBHEER AR (TRMED KETE
subsidiary of the Company. According to the relevant laws in the People’s - REPEARLMR ([HE]) HE
Republic of China (the “PRC”), Norry Tech is required to transfer at least EERFIEABBRERFRGIERAE
10% of their net profit after taxation, as determined under the PRC B B Bt 12 40 ) & 2 10% 82 8 2= 1 7] 95 Ik ok
accounting regulations, to a non-distributable reserve fund until the HES BEEZRBESKEIGERERY
reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered capital. The transfer to this 50% + BZBTE M A A 5 KR B AT o
reserve must be made before the distribution of a dividend to owners. FHAREESTANEHBEFEBE (W
Such reserve fund can be used to offset the previous years’ losses, if any, ) BRIFRIN DA ©
and is non-distributable other than upon liquidation.

Note iii: Amount arising from acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries in ~ Bi&Eii R - T — L FWEN B R RIBIMERSEE

2017.

WL -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-Z-NF=A=+—HILFE

Operating activities
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Impairment losses under
expected credit loss model, net
Write down (reversal of write down) of
inventories
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Loss on fair value changes of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Interest expense
Surrender charge on insurance policy
Interest income
Dividend income

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

Decrease (increase) in inventories

Increase in trade and other receivables

Increase in trade and other payables

(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities

Cash used in operations
PRC Enterprise Income Tax refunded (paid)
Hong Kong Profits Tax (paid) refunded

Net cash used in operating activities

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

REERD

B B A0 5 1R

FLAT SIRFE -
BHEEEEEAATH
B 5 1R % RR

T# B MO (HOR B 1)

WE - BERRBINE
EREEENE
HEWE - BFE k&l

BRESREATEARZ
TREENLTFEEDERE
MEFX

RERFREN

B MA

B EHA

BELESHDNICERESRE

T8 ()

5 £ o W RIS
5 R A 1 R
2R OHL)

REfmARE
BRE (M) PEEEMEHR
B () REFENEH

REZDMARSFE

2023
—E-=F
HK$’000
FAT

(6,516)

4,307

(360)
2,010
2,177

(22)

1,685
1,035
523
(298)
(1,054)

3,487
(371)
(11,403)
479
3,410

(4,398)
(924)
1,569

(3,759)



For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-Z-NF=A=+—HILFE

Investing activities

Dividend received from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Interest received

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Withdrawal of deposits placed at an
insurance company

Net cash from investing activities

Financing activities
Repayment of lease liabilities
Repayment of other borrowings
Interest on lease liabilities
Interest paid

New bank loans raised

Net cash (used in) from financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end
of the year, represented by bank
balances and cash

REEH
BEBBRERATEARZEREE
Y BR B s B

B A8

ﬁﬁ%% P55 Ko B A PSR IR

BEDE BEERE
REFRRE QA ONFR
REFEHMBREFR
MEEE

EEHERE
EEEMIER
HEREBME

ERHE

P& ) FT IR 1T & R

MEER (FTA) MEREFE

RERREEEY (D) BNFEH

FURE RS EEY

TZ*Z@JEJJE/;

FERRERREEEY
EROTEHRERAS

2023
—E-=F
HK$’000
FAT

1,054
238

68
(1,007)

4,325

5,863

64,649
(4,543)

65,969
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Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and registered as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law Chapter
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The shares of the Company are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The registered office address of the Company is located at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the Company is
located at Unit B, 13/F, Eton Building, 288 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong. The directors of the Company consider that
the Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is Colour
Shine Investments Limited, a private limited company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of down-the-
hole (“DTH”) rockdrilling tools and trading of piling and drilling
machineries and rockdrilling equipment.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong

Dollars (“HK$”) which is also the functional currency of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AR

2 = /\ZT le%$|§%§ IZ»TqL E\E

2  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

21

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8

Insurance Contracts

Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two model Rules
Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting Policies
HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

ERAHMAIEEMBREE
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REBITAURH MBS

HE R
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RAFE AEECHXEAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

64

21

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 8
“Definition of Accounting Estimates”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments define accounting
estimates as “monetary amounts in financial statements that
are subject to measurement uncertainty”. An accounting
policy may require items in financial statements to be
measured in a way that involves measurement uncertainty. In
such a case, an entity develops an accounting estimate to
achieve the objective set out by the accounting policy. The
amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates, and changes in accounting
policies and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12
“Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments narrow the scope of the
recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on
initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Are IS R M R

2  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2 ERAFTEBMBHREE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Bl (&% B % 3k & 2 Al J)
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER ACCOUNTING REEBITAUREMES
POLICIES (continued) BUEREE »)

2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily 21 REFERFERNHITE R
effective for the current year (Continued) B REER R HIEFT AR (£)
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12 JEF & E S 2ERIE 129 (53]
“Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from JE—XZGELHEERE
a Single Transaction” (Continued) EFEEFIE - 2 (E)

In accordance with the transition provision: RIFBERT

()  The Group has applied the new accounting policy () AEEEH-_ZT-—FWMA
retrospectively to leasing transaction that occurred on —HxRZBEANHERS
or after 1 April 2022; and EBWRAMGTEER : &

(i)  the Group also, as at 1 April 2022, recognised a iy AEETR_ZT__FMAH
deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that —HptRERAEEEREE
taxable profit will be available against which the BEMRBR AR R E
deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a AN EREERRLERIBE
deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable (1 FE SR B s F 1R 7] 88 1%
temporary difference associated with right-of-use RAEREETHRERER
assets and lease liabilities. Al ERE) RIEERIEA(E -

The application of the amendments has had no material ERZFEITRNERE @ &) B 75

impact on the Group’s financial position and performance, MARKRBW|BERLE  ER

except that the Group discloses the related deferred tax M4l AREBEER T

assets of HK$2,897,000 and deferred tax liabilities of T ZFWA-BAmRERE nJriéE’J

HK$2,897,000 on a gross basis as at 1 April 2022 in Note 24 A iR I B 18 & B 2,897,000 7% TT

but it had no impact on the accumulated losses as at the KB E 7 18 & (52,897,000 T

earliest period presented. BITHERNZFHEAZHMA
STEE -

BREBZERERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

66

21

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting
Policies”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements” is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality
Judgements” (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to
illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step materiality
process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge
whether information about an accounting policy is material to
its financial statements. Guidance and examples are added
to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance
but has affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting
policies set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MR R M A

2  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2 ERAFHITEBUMBERE?
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS A (&8 EHKREER])
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER ACCOUNTING FEEITAURHEMEE

pi

POLICIES (continued) BUEREE »)
2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily 21 RAEAFEERFNEVRNFITE L

effective for the current year (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of
the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of
the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)

— Long Service Payment (“LSP’) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong

The Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong
which are obliged to pay LSP to employees under certain
circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory
MPF contributions to the trustee who administers the assets
held in a trust solely for the retirement benefits of each
individual employee. Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s
accrued retirement benefits derived from employers’” MPF
contributions was allowed under the Employment Ordinance
(Cap. 57). In June 2022, the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region gazetted the Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to
offset severance payment and LSP (the “Abolition”). The
Abolition will officially take effect on 1 May 2025 (the
“Transition Date”). In addition, under the Amendment
Ordinance, the last month’s salary immediately preceding the
Transition Date (instead of the date of termination of
employment) is used to calculate the portion of LSP in
respect of the employment period before the Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting for
the offsetting mechanism and the impact arising from
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong. The abolition of the offsetting mechanism did not have
a material impact on the Group’s results and financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MR R M A

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO

68

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of
HKFRS 10 and Assets between an Investor
HKAS 28 and its Associate or
Joint Venture!
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback?®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements?
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all other amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MR R M A

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2 ERHITEEMBEREE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Bl (TEBMBEHREER])
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER ACCOUNTING REEBITAUREMES
POLICIES (continued) BUEREE »)

2.2 Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective 22 EHEMAEMKRERZEBYTH
(Continued) HEAMEET R (&)
Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as S ERIETH (EFTA) &
Current or Non-current” and related amendments to Hong BREFESR(—E_EF)EEH

Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments’) TEB) S IE B B (&5 1B R IR
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with I =ZFB=-FFMKTX])RE
Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments’) BEIERIZE 1 (BT AR
W FERBERE([ZE==
CHIEN)
The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional RE_T_TFEIRAHAER
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at SEHMEEL T ZEAAZTEES
least twelve months from reporting date for classification of THEF IR BB REEINES] - A
liabilities as current or non-current, which: HEE P EARBIERE &
REE
e Clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option e EKEWABEBUHEHETFH
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the BESRAEERERAGNRE
transfer of the entity's own equity instruments, these L EETHEB 2GR A
terms do not affect its classification as current or non- BEEERERBBgER
current only if the entity recognises the option FRFEHTE : 2158
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 EHESHERAEZ LA
“Financial Instruments: Presentation”. B ZEBRRAATEFER

DERRBLIERED °

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current or e EERAEBEIEARARSAE
non-current should be based on rights that are in SIEME) B EEARE BIR
existence at the end of the reporting period. EFEZENBKE - B8
Specifically, the amendments clarify that the ME  ZEBITRNEEDE
classification should not be affected by management TEZHNEBEEEL12EARN
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12 BEBECEENHEMY
months. 2o

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from HABFREREHNBERER

reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with HEREEENEL T ZEANE

covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020 MiE ZE_FFEBE5AH

Amendments have been modified by the 2022 Amendments. EXERK T FIBE[ERT °

The 2022 Amendments specify that only covenants with ZEZFEERIH EBEAR

which an entity is required to comply with on or before the WMEBRRI BTN RBTE

end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer FETRNREAREEL T

settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the BMAANEELESEBENET &

reporting date. Covenants which are required to comply with ERMEREETN R R %R

only after the reporting period do not affect whether that right FRMERAREEFEALBTE -

exists at the end of the reporting period.
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2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO

70

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current” and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”’)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could
become repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period, if an entity classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right to defer
settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within twelve months after the reporting
period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of
applying the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The 2022
Amendments, together with the 2020 Amendments, are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024, with early application permitted. If an entity
applies the 2020 Amendments for an earlier period after the
issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply
the 2022 Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 March
2024, the application of the 2020 and 2022 Amendments will
not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 “Leases” (‘HKFRS 16”), and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value
in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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3  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continueq)

(2

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, and
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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The consolidated financial statements incorporate financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involverment with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MR R M A

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 KEUMBHRRNVWEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REREFTHERER #)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

32 EARETBEEX

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Rendering of services

Service income of piling and drilling machineries and
equipment is recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation, as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs. The Group bills a fixed
amount for each month of service provided. The Group
elected to apply the practical expedient by recognising
revenue in the amount to which the Group has right to
invoice. As permitted under HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” (‘HKFRS 15”), the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
The service income is not derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business and is presented as other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continueq)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the

right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component
and are accounted for by applying other applicable
standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

7 6 Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” (‘HKFRS 9”) and initially measured
at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.
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Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less
any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MR R M A

3  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continueq)

GABBRENEREE
REREHREEH )

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 32 EREFBRER(
Property, plant and equipment M - BELKRE

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continueq)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and bank
balances, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-
out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Cost
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
financial assets and are presented as other income.
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Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. For financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continueq)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (Continued)
(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated

as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Dividends from these assets are recognised in profit or
loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, and are included in the “other income” line

item.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

3

GABBRERNFEREE
REREHREEH )

32 EARETBEERE)

TREE (&)

EMEENS BREMTE(H)

(i)

EBEBERRAFEARZE
BMEE

TERRBHKASEBE
b 2R R A FEARE
EREYREREBEME
HRSEEAFEARZ SR
BENEBBRDIEAFER

=
==Rd

FRBERERATEARZE
BMEEER TN B P E
AR FERSHERTIIR
BEmE PR A FER
B-REBEZPHIBNKEL
EHEFETEREAKRER
HEMEEEGSHNANE I
EFATEM S M EEIER
o

BN B UCER R B B R N
V- ZEEEMNRENE
BmPHER WA ATHMU
AJEBH -



Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets including trade
receivables, other receivables, deposits and bank balances
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

M

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

M

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if () it has a low risk of default, (i) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (i) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset, when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MR R M A

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and
bank and other borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 KEUMBHRRNVWEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REREFTHERER #)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 32 EREFBRER(

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs, other than those directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, if any, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Such grants are presented
under “other income”.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit schemes
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24
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Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting
from service cost, interest and remeasurements are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that another
HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case, the exchange rates at the date of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax because
of income or expenses that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and the future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the
next financial year.
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The Group calculates ECL for the trade receivables individually or
collectively. Except for significant balances or credit-impaired
amounts which are assessed for impairment individually, the
remaining trade receivables are grouped under a collective
assessment after considering internal credit ratings of trade
debtors, ageing, repayment history and/or past due status of
respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for supportable forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are
disclosed in Note 29 and Note 17 respectively.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of trade receivables is
HK$53,284,000 (2023: HK$47,999,000), net of impairment loss of
HK$10,146,000 (2023: HK$6,146,000).

The management assesses whether the inventories are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable values and estimates the
allowance for inventories based on their industry knowledge and
experience at the end of the reporting period. The management
estimates the amount of allowance for inventories based on the
lower of cost and their estimated net realisable value. In determining
the net realisable values of the Group’s inventories, the
management considers the current market conditions, material
price fluctuation and subsequent usage or sales. When the actual
net realisable values are lower than expectation, such difference will
impact the carrying amounts of inventories. During the year ended
31 March 2024, the Group recognises a write down of inventories
of HK$1,989,000 (2023: a reversal of write down of inventories of
HK$360,000). As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of
inventories is HK$44,956,000 (2023: HK$56,471,000).
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The Group is principally engaged in (i) manufacturing and trading of
DTH rockdrilling tools; and (ii) trading of pilling and drilling
machineries and rockdrilling equipment.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

Recognised at a point in time:
Manufacturing and trading of
DTH rockdrilling tools
Trading of pilling and drilling machineries
and rockdrilling equipment

Disaggregation of revenue by geographical location is disclosed in
geographical information below.

All of the Group’s revenue is recognised when the control of goods
is transferred, being when the goods are delivered to the
customer’s specific location. A receivable is recognised by the
Group when the goods are delivered to the customer’s premises
as this represents the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time
is required before payment is due. The normal credit term is O to 90
days upon delivery. The customers have neither rights of return nor
rights to defer or avoid payment for the goods once they are
accepted by the customers upon receipt of goods. The contracts
signed with the customers are short-term and fixed price contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MR R M A

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq)
Revenue (Continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2024
and 31 March 2023 and the expected timing of recognising
revenue are as follows:

BOoEESRTENEE
MO RER) 2R 5HERMER
Y 25 1Y EHHHTFWDT

2024 2023

HK$’OOO HK$'000

FE& T FAT

Within one year —F RN 32,670 64,092

Segment information

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM?”), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on the types of products sold.

The details of the Group’s operating segments are as follows:
(i) Manufacturing and trading of DTH rockdrilling tools

(i) Trading of pilling and drilling machineries and rockdrilling
equipment

These operating segments also represent the Group’s reportable
segments. No operating segments identified by the CODM have
been aggregated in arriving at the reportable, segments of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B MR

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq)

Segment information (Continued)
Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

operating and reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

WmkoIBER @)
SEER (&)
SEf i as R EAE

J«AT%@JK’*I&#&%&Tzi& oR:iE

7 U Es R EEE DT -

BE-_R_ME=-A=1+—-HILFE

Manufacturing Trading of pilling

and trading and drilling
of DTH machineries and
rockdrilling rockdrilling
tools equipment Total
HEREE BEITBRR
BABETH BERUAREBERE Mt
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FBxT FEx FHT
Segment and external sales DERINAEE 136,542 11,689 148,231
Segment result DEEE 33,915 231 34,146
Unallocated expenses AABEAZ (48,800)
Other income H A A 3,526
Impairment losses under ECL B EEBREXIETH
model, net WIEEBEFE (4,000)
Other gains and losses o a5 B4R (5,011)
Finance costs BB AR (1,189)
Loss before tax BRI ATEE (21,328)

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE

Manufacturing  Trading of piling
and trading and drilling
of DTH  machineries and
rockdrilling rockdrilling
tools equipment Total
HEREE EETHEER
BHBETA BRIARBESRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET TET
Segment and external sales DE RN E 146,569 10,479 167,048
Segment result Db ELE 41,220 2,198 43,418
Unallocated expenses AAEEME (49,295)
Other income H A 4,253
Impairment losses under ECL BHEEBREXETH
model, net REEEFH (4,307)
Other gains and losses H oYz & 518 450
Finance costs BER AR (1,035)
Loss before tax PR Al & 18 (6,516)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as K BB T IRGE MY RS Pl AN &

—EC=F=ZA=+t—HILFE

the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment
result represents the profit earned by each segment without
allocation of unallocated expenses (including selling and distribution
expenses and administrative expenses), other income, impairment
losses under ECL model, net, other gains and losses and finance
costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM of the Group for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

No analysis of segment assets or segment liabilities is presented as
they are not regularly provided to the CODM of the Group.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq)

Segment information (Continued)

104

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 March 2024

5 WaEkosHEE 2

2 EER ()
15 SEH

BE-E_NE=A=+—HILLEE

Manufacturing Trading of pilling

and trading and drilling
of DTH machineries and
rockdrilling rockdrilling
tools equipment Total
HEREE BETHER
BABETEH ERURBERE #at
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THET THET THET
Amounts regularly provided tothe  F HiIA1 £ B2 R R E IR E
CODM but not included in the BTAREDBEEN
measurement of segment result: A
Depreciation of property, mE - BERZENE
plant and equipment 382 - 382
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ F B ENE 1,475 - 1,475
Write down of inventories FEMR 1,989 - 1,989
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE_Z-_—F=-A=+—HLFE
Manufacturing ~ Trading of piling
and trading and drilling
of DTH  machineries and
rockdrilling rockdrilling
tools equipment Total
HEREER EETHBHEK
BIEBETA BHRURBERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET FET
Amounts regularly provided tothe  FHiIA £ BE 2R R EIRE
CODM but not included in the BRRRFTEDBRED
measurement of segment result: A
Depreciation of property, ME - BERZENE
plant and equipment 667 - 667
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FAEEENTE 1,475 - 1,475
Reversal of write down of inventories 7% & Hil 5 # 2l (360) - (360)

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq) 5 WERkoHER @

Segment information (Continued) DEER (E)

Geographical information HhE B

The following table sets out information about (i) the Group’s TREY () AEEIZRRF LM E 5
revenue from external customers by the location of customers and KENRBEP W M () AEBIZEEFT
(i) the Group’s non-current assets (excluded deferred tax assets) T B D RERDEE (TRIFBELER
by location of assets. HEE)WER -

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
REMREFKE FRBEE
For the year ended 31 March As at 31 March
BE=ZR=+t—HLEE R=A=+-—H
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-NE —Eo=F —E-E TEC=F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET FExT FHET
Hong Kong B 142,629 149,450 2,986 1,747
Scandinavia H £5E #9425 1,527 5,179 - -
Macau SEPT 510 1,522 - -
The PRC i 593 - 10,872 13,803
Germany = 1,476 810 - -
Others Hith 1,496 87 - -
148,231 157,048 13,858 15,550
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq) 5
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106

Segment information (Continued) ﬁ?%ﬂ%§¥4\ &)
Information about major customers FEEFEN
Revenue from major customers which accounted for 10% or more REFERBEAEBERZE10% KA L
of the Group’s revenue for each of the year are set out below: ZEERFPHREHINIAT
2024 2023
—EDNFE T =F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Customer A (note (b)) ZEAME () 34,590 N/AT@EMO
Customer B (note (a)) ZFEB(MiE@) 18,098 -
Customer C (note (a)) P C(MizE@) N/ATREH @ 35,518
Customer D (note (b)) ZFD(MFE D) N/ATREH @ 34,626
Customer E (note (b)) ZFPE(MiFE D) N/ATRER@ 16,319
Notes: B 5
(@  The revenue was derived from manufacturing and trading of DTH (8 WEKERENEFTEBEIRBRETA

rockdrilling tools.

(b)  The revenue was derived from manufacturing and trading of DTH (o)
rockdrilling tools and trading of pilling and drilling machineries and

rockdrilling equipment.

Weai ok B 8E & B BB ?LﬁEIELA
REBTEERER AR EER

(c)  Revenue from the customer is less than 10% of the total revenue of © FERXREEFHWFHENRANERZRK
the Group for the year. = A 10% °
6 OTHER INCOME 6 Huayg A
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Bank interest income RATH B WA 458 238
Dividend income from financial assets KEEZBEREAFEARZ
at FVTPL TREENRBKA 1,131 1,054
Government grant B Bh 8 808
Interest income on deposits placed at TR A B 2T 58 F 2 WA
an insurance company - 60
Service income of piling and drilling FT G M I S DA T2 2 4 AR A LA
machineries and equipment - 72
Scrap and accessory sales BER R ELFEE S 1,417 1,334
Sundry income LT N 512 687
3,526 4,253

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Are IS R M R

7 IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT 7

EHEEBERENIE NN

LOSS MODEL, NET AND OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES ,Uz 15 EEFHEURAEMK
=REE
2024 2023
—E-E o
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET

Impairment losses under ECL model,

net include the following:

BEHEEBEEXETHY
MEBRFESREATER

Impairment losses on trade receivables, net 5 & W B R (E &5 18 )% 58 (4,000) (4,307)
Details of impairment assessment are set TERH SRR B E A 29 o
out in Note 29.
Other gains and losses include the followings: H iz & EE S IEA T &IE ¢
Net foreign exchange gain HINEE U 55 F 58 30 1,753
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - B R E R
equipment - 22
(Write down) reversal of write down of & (MUR) #OR# o
inventories (1,989) 360
Loss on fair value changes of financial HBRBmZATEARZER
assets at FVTPL BEANTEZEER (3,052) (1,685)
(5,011) 450
8 FINANCE COSTS 8 mMEMK
2024 2023
—BDmE T _=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMEER S 745 541
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 444 494
1,189 1,035
BREEZERAERD

2023/24 i#&
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LOSS BEFORE TAX 9 MKRBAIERE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-ZF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FiE T FET
Loss before tax has been arrived at BREATEEEHKRUATER -
after charging:
Directors’ remuneration (Note 11) E=0e (1) 600 600
Other staff costs Hib 8 TAA 27,136 24,213
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes RRTEF IR 1,937 1,628
Total staff costs B TR 4E%E 29,673 26,441
Capitalised in cost of inventories manufactured B & A&{t BRIET G A (5,025) (4,744)
24,648 21,697
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% « iE MR IETE 1,500 2,010
Capitalised in cost of inventories manufactured & &2k & &LiEF &k A (382) (667)
1,118 1,343
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 2,642 2,177
Capitalised in cost of inventories manufactured 2 &A1k & &LETF &k A (1,475) (1,475)
1,167 702
Auditor’s remuneration ZEETE & 630 650
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense MR A 2 FERA 114,085 113,630

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24



2023

—E=F
HK$’000
FHIT
Current tax: BVEARR I

Hong Kong BB (178)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PRI ATSH 613)
(791)

(Under)over-provision in prior years: BAFERECNR) B -
Hong Kong BH 3,738
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PRI ATSH (31)
3,707
Current tax (charge) credit BUERFITE (2 ) & 2,916
Deferred tax (charge) credit (Note 24) RIEHITE (2 ) H % (fizk24) 24
2,940

The Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity under the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime is calculated at 8.25% on the
first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million for both
years. The Hong Kong Profits Tax of the group entities not
qualifying for the regime is calculated at a flat rate of 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profits.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the PRC
Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at 25% of the assessable
profits for the subsidiary established in the PRC for both years.

RREFENEEREEERNEEN
SHAE2A BB T RN R
B M ARG 28.25%:TE - Mt
B2 H 8B T A ER B % A 1R
16.5%&TH - TF A EMEAZXHER
SEERNTBNEHRZAEF ERT
B — X 16.5% 5 H -

REFECEMEVE (REREHR
ED RERABBRABE RGN - NP E
PIZ P B 2 RIS R (B 5 19 R IR AR
T3 M #) 26% 5T B P B (b R PI1S T -
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10 TAXATION (CHARGE) CREDIT (continueq) 10 BiE (ZH)EE @
The taxation (charge) credit for the year can be reconciled to the RAFEERIE () B0 ER AT E R
loss before tax as follows: HERMAT -
2024 2023
—EDNFE T =F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Loss before tax bR B AT E 18 (21,328) 6,516)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% & AN FT 154 & 16.5% u+§Z7FRIE 3,519 1,075
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AAHBAL o RETE
tax purposes (1,671) (931)
Tax effect of income not taxable for BEARBBRAZ B2
tax purposes 443 702
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERHBEEBEE HETE (2,476) (1,161)
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERANMBEEREZZ BB E
differences not recognised (1,130) (476)
Tax effect of different tax rate of subsidiary ~ WEMENEEREZ 2 Pﬁ}% NGT
operating in other jurisdiction KATEMENBBTE 291 (509)
Tax concession (note) g% (k) 3 368
Tax effect of two-tiered profits tax rates regime  FIAL ISR K H|EM TR B E 165 165
(Under) over-provision in prior years MAEFEEE (TR BHE (377) 3,707
Taxation (charge) credit MIE(ZH) E&E (1,233) 2,940
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2024, the relevant subsidiary Pt aE - %iigiﬂiﬂ E‘_}_—__ B IEF
incorporated in Hong Kong and the PRC was entitled to tax E/’\ﬁf\—ﬁ%%‘:’] /ﬁﬂﬁﬁkiﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁﬂﬁ
concession of HK$3,000 (2023: HK$6,000) and nil (2023: EA;_EE”*mR’%ﬁ%&OO%%T
HK$362,000), respectively. —E-=F:6,0008m) BT (=

T =4 : 362,000/ 7T) ©

—] —] O Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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11 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF 11 EFEF THABREEME
EXECUTIVE AND EMPLOYEES
Directors and Chief Executive ESRTHAR
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed AFEEEZRITHAHNE  RIEHEA
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong ETRBREERATHEAIFEENOT

Companies Ordinance is as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_Z-_NE=A=1+—HLEE
Performance
related Contributions
Salaries incentive to retirement
and other payments benefit
Fee benefits (note) schemes Total
FER EuRe RIKEH
ik HitiEF (Bi=E) AR @5t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TER THET TET TET TET
Executive directors TES
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau ERREE 240 - - - 240
Ms. Li Kai Lai Miranda FEERL - - - - -
240 - - - 240

Independent non-executive ~ BIUFHTES

directors
Ms. Lam Hoi Yu Nicki (note ) ~ #Rslang £ (B () 100 - - - 100
Mr. Lau Leong Yuen (note (i) %llzﬁ SoAE (B EE() 100 - - - 100
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming (note (i) ST (M) 20 - - - 20
Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe (note (i) ﬁ%h 58 5% 4 (FI3E (i) 20 - - - 20
Mr. Yiu To Wa igELE 120 = = = 120
360 - - - 360
600 - - - 600
BEEEERE
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AR MR R M A

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE AND EMPLOYEES (continued)
Directors and Chief Executive (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance is as follows: (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023

11

i% THRBREENE

Z=
(=W,

EERITHRAR (&)
Zl»‘ﬁfﬁ%%&ﬁﬂ%@ﬁm\{ﬁ R E B A

EHRAEEBARUEHIRELT « (&)
BE - Z-_=F=-A=+—HILFE

Performance
related  Contributions

Salaries incentive  to retirement
and other payments benefit
Fee benefits (note) schemes Total
Hek BEwse RN
ik Hit @7 (FizE) A m@ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL THET TAL TEL THL
Executive directors BITES
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau ERKEE 240 - - - 240
Ms. Li Kai Lai Miranda FRERT - - - - -
240 - - - 240
Independent non-executive ~ BIAFHTES
directors
Ms. Lam Hoi Yu Nicki mslintz 120 - - - 120
Mr. Lau Leong Yuen AERELE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Yiu To Wa HhEERE 120 - - - 120
360 - - - 360
600 - - - 600
Notes Mk

(0} On 31 January 2024, Ms. Lam Hoi Yu Nicki and Mr. Lau Leong Yuen
were resigned as independent non-executive directors.

(i) On 31 January 2024, Mr. Cheung Sze Ming and Mr. Wong Siu
Keung Joe were appointed as independent non-executive directors.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group. The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24
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The five highest paid employees of the Group during the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 do not include any directors of the
Company. Details of the remuneration for the year ended 31 March
2024 of the five (2023: five) highest paid employees who are neither
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RMEEMH R
Performance related incentive payments (note) 4 X854 (1)
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes & /K48 Fll 5 &l it 7%

Note: The performance related incentive payments are determined on the
performance of the individuals and the profitability of the group
entities during the year.

BHE_FT-_OFE-_T_=F=H
=+—HIEFE AEBREZSHN
BEVTEBERAAGEMNES -HEZ
ZoNFE=ZA=+—HIEFE AR (=
Eo=F RARB)WIEARAEEHT
RN E=HINEENFTMFBEOT

2023
T
HK$'000
FETT

7,240

2,378
144

9,762

M AR RFAFENEAARBERE
EEERNBEITNE

The number of these highest paid employees, whose emolument HeFaUTaEMNZERaFMNESR
fell within the following bands is as follows: AT
2023
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T £ 1,500,000 78 7T 3
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 & 7t & 2,500,000 %8 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 T & 3,000,000 7% 7T -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7 7T = 4,000,000 /5 7T 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7 7t 2 4,500,000 75 7T -
5

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company or the five highest paid individuals (including directors
and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office for the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023. None of the directors waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

HE_Z_MNEER_E_==H4
=+T—HIEFE FAEEHERART
EFg A FMALT (BREESER
BE)ZHME  fEBMASMARE
B EESEABERBE HEZT
TER—E_=F=ZA=+—HIHF
[ BMESEREXREREETEAHE -

2023/24 FR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IR I R

12 DIVIDENDS 12 RE
No dividend was paid or proposed to the ordinary shareholders of RRESEE - SiERAR R @R RE
the Company during both years, nor has any dividend been IR SR IR AR E - B 3RS R AR
proposed since the end of the reporting period. INEREZIREMARE -
13 LOSS PER SHARE 13 BRE#E
2024 2023
—EBoNE T =HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHET
Loss for the purpose of calculating basic ANGTESREXRBENES
loss per share:
Loss for the year attributable to owners ARABHEE ANEIEFERNEE
of the Company (18,674) (3,504)
’000 ‘000
TR’ T iR
Number of shares: BMmEE -
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose B LAFT E &R EARE B
of calculating basic loss per share SRS Elieg=! 380,000 380,000
No diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2024 and HREE—Z-_NFRER=F-_=-F=A4
2023 was presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in =+—H Lti EWEEETBEELR
issue during both years. fg - I E 2T MEFENTREES
o

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24
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Furniture,

fixtures
and office Motor Plant and Leasehold
equipment vehicles  machineries improvements Total
B
BEEER
WARE AE BERKE BENWELE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL FHET AL AL FHL
Cost BRA
At 1 April 2022 R-BE-—£MA—-A 4,641 6,163 20,602 4,286 35,692
Currency realignment R (282 (99) (1,378) (255) (2,014)
Additions NE 151 451 128 277 1,007
Disposal & (121) (338) - - (459)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=F=A=+—H 4,389 6,177 19,352 4,308 34,226
Currency realignment R (185) (68) (910) (166) (1,329)
Additions NE 74 1,022 198 - 1,294
Disposals e (17) - - - 17
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_MFE=A=+—H 4,261 7,131 18,640 4,142 34,174
Depreciation nE
At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-—FMA—H 3,329 4772 16,880 4,000 28,981
Currency realignment ERTIECE (207) (65) (1,121) (255) (1,648)
Provided for the year FREE 358 880 667 105 2,010
Elimination on disposals R (109) (304) - - #13)
At 31 March 2023 RZZE-=F=A=+—-H 3,371 5,283 16,426 3,850 28,930
Currency realignment R E (148) (45) (764) (166) (1,123)
Provided for the year FRRE 366 606 382 146 1,500
Elimination on disposals e R (19) - - - (1)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-W&=A=+—H 3,574 5,844 16,044 3,830 29,292
Carrying values IREE
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-WE=A=+—H 687 1,287 2,596 312 4,882
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=%#=ZR=+—H 1,018 894 2,926 458 5,296

- BEMEREEBE TIIFL
RABEREERE -

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Furniture, fixtures and office 20% B BEEER 20%

equipment BN
Motor vehicles 25%-30% E 25%-30%
Plant and machineries 10%-25% %R K i 23 10%-25%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of HEMERE HHE sk
lease, or 20%-33% 20%-33%
(ABREE B%E)

2023/24 FR
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RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

15 ERABEE

Factory
premises
TR
HK$’000
FET
At 31 March 2024 RZZE_MFE=A=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 8,976
At 31 March 2023 RZZBEZ=F=A=+—H
Carrying amount FREE 10,254
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE_T_MF=A=+—HILFE
Depreciation charge TERX 2,642
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-_ZT-=#=ZA=+—HItEE
Depreciation charge WERX 2,177
2024 2023
—EoNE ZTZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHEEBENRX 1,473 1,868
Total cash outflow for leases HERS AL A% 4,522 4,430

For both years, the Group leases factory premises for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 2 to
12 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract

and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable. FIBITHYHAR) -

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24
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RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for staff quarters
and office premises. As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into a
non-cash transaction regarding to new lease arrangement in
respect of an office unit (2023: factory premise). Right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of HK$1,364,000 (2023: HK$844,000)
and HK$1,364,000 (2023: HK$844,000) respectively were

recognised at the commencement of the lease.

15 FHAEEE @
NEFETHIVEIBERIASWE
MESRAE RN -_mME=/F=+—
BER-ZE-=F=F=+—H EH#AE
EHEH EEE A ERIAT
HEMNRBEHESHEAES -

HE-_Z-_MNMF=ZA=+—RHIFE"
NEBEB TR ENFHEL T LI
ReXPG(ZE_=F: THEYWH*E) - &
AEEERBEAEDFA1,364,000
BIL(ZE = = 844,000 L) &
1,364,000 7T (= Z = = 4 : 844,000
BIT) c WA ERBEER -

INVENTORIES 16 &8
2024 2023
—EmEF .
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE T FAET
Raw materials and consumables JRM K H FE 17,833 18,238
Work in progress TS 4,703 11,858
Finished goods 22,420 26,375
44,956 56,471

BREBZERERAR
2023/24 FR 1 1 7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MR R M A

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17 EZ R EMEWRFE

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FE T FAET

Trade receivables 2 5 e GRIE 63,430 54,145
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEERE (10,146) (6,146)

53,284 47,999

Other receivables H 4th jE e skIE

— Value-added tax recoverable — A Ug O] 3 E R 6,688 6,412

— Prepayments — FERIE 11,393 9,555

— Deposits — 7 2,349 2,865

— Other receivables — Hb ik ziIg 491 236

Total trade and other receivables B 5 R EHAMEWFHIBREE 74,205 67,067
As at 1 April 2022, trade receivables from contracts with customers RZTEZZFWHA—H BEFEA
amounted to HK$39,596,000. RE £ R E 5 W FRIE 7 39,596,000 7

JC °

AEBEBTEEPHEERNTFRINEY
BOEQH - LT ARBMERRERR
NEYBHNE S EURIE (2R

The Group grants a credit period ranged from O day to 90 days
upon delivery of goods to its customers. The following is an aging
analysis of trade receivables based on dates of delivery of goods,

net of impairment losses at the end of the reporting period: EER) RO :
2024 2023
—E-NFE T =F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
0 to 30 days 0= 30H 14,262 11,554
31 to 60 days 31£60H 9,300 11,082
61 to 90 days 61290 H 11,019 1,850
91 to 180 days 91£2180H 5,557 5,622
181 days to 1 year 181 HE1F 5,719 8,081
Over 1 year 1 E 7,427 9,810
53,284 47,999

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24



At 31 March 2024, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$38,164,000 (2023: HK$27,105,000) which are past due at the
end of the reporting period. Out of the past due balances,
HK$15,853,000 (2023: HK$21,063,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default as the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that the balances are still
considered fully recoverable due to long-term/on-going relationship
and good repayment records from these debtors. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 29.

The Group’s trade and other receivables that are denominated in
currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant group
entities are set out below:

Denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”)
Denominated in United States dollars (‘US$”) A=t ([Ex])#HE
Denominated in Euro VAR TTEHE

AR (TAR¥ ] EHE

RZE_WNFE=A=+—8 " ~E£EH
EoRBARELBBRAEAEREEAR
38,164,000 L (=& = = F :
27,105,000 70) H & 7 R 24 B oKk 21 2F
BOFE W BR BX - RN R4 AR R
15,853,000t (& = = & :
21,063,000/ 70) B @ 90 B =k A F -
TR ABELN  RERAANZEES
AR HEBRLRTERGCLH
RABEERBZEER/NER AT
BEUWE - REBWEFHEZELEHBH
ETIR IR G o

BB BN M FE29 ©

AEBIAHEBEEEERBEEE A
BE¥ECE S RAMBERFIAS S
T

2023
—E-=F
HK$’000
FET

899
2,683
38
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18 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 18 ZBEHZRAFTEAKRZ
PROFIT OR LOSS TREE
2024 2023
—EomE  ZED=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Financial assets mandatorily measured BBBHEATERFTEZ
at FVTPL: TREE:
Listed securities held for trading: BEEEZ ETESH
— Equity securities listed on the — REERFT ET 2 BRANFE S (M #E)
Stock Exchange (note) 20,297 23,349
Note: The listed securities on the Stock Exchange are measured at fair value M REBRM LM s BSFER2EERM
at recurring basis, by reference to market bid price in an active market. BHMISREE  REEEEERA
FEHE -
19 BANK BALANCES AND CASH 19 RITEHRRES
The Group’s bank balances and cash that are denominated in AEBEUEASEEETRIEEEUING
currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant group BEFSECRITEARRBHINAT -

entities are set out below:

2024 2023
—E-WE =

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTET FAT

Denominated in RMB AARBE 2,259 16,702

Denominated in US$ LAZETTEHE 881 1,671

Denominated in Euro AR TEHE 3 1,374
Bank balances carry interests at prevailing market rates ranging RITHEHBEN F0.001%=£0.875%
from 0.001% to 0.875% (2023: 0.001% to 0.625%) per annum. (ZZ = =4 :0.001% £0.625% ) &Y

ERMSFRERFE -

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 29. A EFBEEHRMFE29 -

1 20 Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20 ESREHMENFIE
2024 2023
—ETolE T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Trade payables =) ANk 7,960 5,407
Accrued expenses fEETFA X 2,976 2,685
Accrued housing provident fund BstEERAE® 977 1,031
Other payables H b < 5B 576 140
Total trade and other payables BN H RN FRIELER 12,489 9,263
The credit period of trade payables granted by suppliers is from 30 HEBRTHNEZENRBNEESEN
to 90 days upon the issue of invoices. THEAZE®BES0E0H -
The following is an aging analysis of trade payables based on the LUTARESENFBEBEREZAHMNE
invoice dates. BT o
2024 2023
—E-_NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FAT
0 to 30 days 02 30H 3,444 4,248
31 to 60 days 31E60H 2,090 1,039
91 to 180 days 912180 H 2,407 -
181 to 365 days 1812 365 H - 120
Over 365 days 365 HA £ 19 -
7,960 5,407
The Group’s trade and other payables that are denominated in AEEUEAEEERIEEEUING
currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant group BETECZE S MEMMEMNFIESY N
entities are set out below: ™
2024 2023
—E-NFE T =F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET T
Denominated in Euro AR TTEHE - 102




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MR R M A

21 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 21 88 E
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE T FHE T
Contract liabilities AHAaE 2,821 3,897

As at 1 April 2022, contract liabilities amounted to HK$487,000.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, an amount of
HK$3,897,000 (2023: HK$487,000) relating to brought-forward
contract liabilities was fully recognised as revenue.

Contract liabilities represent deposits received in advance for
manufacturing and trading of DTH rockdrilling tools. For certain of
the Group’s customers, the Group receives a deposit before
manufacturing commences, giving rise to contact liabilities until
revenue is recognised.

RZE-__FHA—H AHEEE
487,000 L - B2 -_MF = A
“+—HALEFE FHEEEANAR
3,897,000/ T (=& = = £ : 487,000
B BEHER AW o

EHRBEENREREEAEIEETA
MELWBMHIRE - RAREETEP
mE A% EE RN R R E [ WEUR
T EMELAAHAR  BEEERNE -

22 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 22 RITREMEE
2024 2023
ZEDINFE T =F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Bank loans, guaranteed BERHOIRITER 10,000 13,210
Other loans, unsecured EEAHEME R 13,000 15,000
23,000 28,210
Carrying amounts repayable within JER—FRNEELIN TR RBEE
one year and included under K EREE (B IE R ZREE KR
current liabilities (with a repayable
on demand clause) 23,000 28,210
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The bank loans as at 31 March 2024 carried interest at Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) plus 3.5% (2023: ranged from
US$ prime rate plus 1% to HIBOR plus 3.5%) per annum. The
effective interest rates of the bank borrowings at 8.24% (2023:
7.56% to 9%) per annum.

The other loans as at 31 March 2024 carry interest at 1% (2023:
1%) per annum.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group further entered
into an agreement with the financial institution to extend the existing
other loans for an additional term of one year (2023: one year).

RZE_ME=A=+—HBHWRITER
LZEFHNEARTRAZRE ((BBRT
BEFLE]) MI5% (ZE_=F: NF
ETLEEMNEIMNEFBRITRER
B IN3.5%) 5 B - IiRITE R ERFF
RAE82U%(ZE_=F : N F7.56% %
9%) °

RZZE_MNF=A=+—HHEMERK
BENEAR(ZTE-=F 1%)5 8 -

HE_Z_NWF=A=+—HLEFE"
AEBEHESREEE PRI LiE - U
EERBEEMER —FHEIINFH(=ZF
TZE )

2023
—E-=F
HK$’'000
FAT
Lease liabilities payable ENHEARE
Within one year —F R 2,499
Within a period of more than one year —F B N ERRE
but not more than two years 7,813
Within a period of more than two years A LA _H1B B F R ERRE
but not more than five years 1,380
11,692
Less: Amount due for settlement within B ER12EANGEE 28
12 months shown under (RrehBaERYIR)
current liabilities (2,499)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months  7ZBR 12l AR &E 2 &5
shown under non-current liabilities (RIERBBERNTIR) 9,193
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MR R M A

24 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 24 EEBIBEE BE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of BRNFEEVBRRAKREN & TEER
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have HEEMBEDEHEE - LT AU
been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax WEBRME REH BRI -

balances for financial reporting purposes:

2024 2023
—E_NE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Deferred tax assets EEFIRE E 1,804 2,416
Deferred tax liabilities REFRIBEE (83) (102)
1,721 2,314
The following are the deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised and LWTARAFERBEFERANEL
movements thereon during the current and prior years: HEEE (BB AREEE :
Accelerated
ECL tax Right-of-use Lease
provision depreciation Tax loss assets liabilities Total
BHEE i3
BFERE BENE HEFE FAREE  HEAf o

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Tix Tix Tix TR TR
(restated) (restated)
(1 E5) (1 &5)

At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-—#MA-H 533 (86) 1,843 (2,897) 2,897 2,290
Credit (charge) to profit or loss FABE(BEENR) - 24 - 527 (527) 24
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=F=A=1-H 533 (62) 1,843 (2.370) 2,370 2314
Credit (charge) to profit or loss FABR(BEENR) (481) 21) 1) 527 (527) (593)
At 31 March 2024 RZEZME=A=1—H 52 (83) 1,752 (1,843) 1,843 1,721

—] 24 Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unutilised tax losses of HK$21,947,000 (2023: HK$7,486,000) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has deductible temporary
differences of HK$9,262,000 (2023: HK$2,885,000). No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences can
be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC companies from 1
January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of deductible
temporary differences attributable to retained profits of the PRC
subsidiary amounting to HK$21,454,000 (2023: HK$22,719,000)
as the Group is able to control the timing of reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

FR P B VA BRI R 2R s I SRR - B £ Bt
mAB) A2 BIAEE 21,947,000 70 (=
LT~ =4 17,486,000 T) FERIELER
HEE - MIBBENERAEE -

MRZZE-_MNE=A=+—1 K&EHEF
B H0 R R 2= 550,262,0008 T (—F
— =4 :2,885,000/87T) - R ELA
FB VB3 8 ] 0080 B 2= BE A JE AR B s A
RATBEMEN R B E S Z S AR E
BFEREERELERIBEE -

BREFENGEMGEE BZZ2ZN
F—A—HE gt BER R HRNA G
FrE k&A% BZABT B - WESLF
B FfY 88 2 R R B8 42 I FE A /9 AT F0 B B B
=2 021,454,000 T (Z 2 =% :
22,719,000/ 70) RER & B IS X &t
RBEERIERE  REEAEEFRE
PEHlE R R E R B ERE
EERAEREBERATETGED -

Number of Share
shares capital
KRR [N
’000 HK$’000
F % FHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each FEREEA BT Eimk
Authorised: EIE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and RZBEZZ_FMWA—H "
31 March 2024 :%:ZiZHer—E&
—EZNFE=A=+—H 500,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHBE:
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and R-ZZE-_—_FmWA—H-
31 March 2024 :g::g:ﬂ:JrfE&
—EMFE=A=+—H 380,000 38,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MR R M A

26 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

26 QB BRI TR

COMPANY
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TH T FAT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EHEBRRIEE 79,611 79,611
Property, plant and equipment Wz BERE 14 371
79,625 79,982
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H b i U 38 181 253
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG E e 1,385 1,292
Financial assets at FVTPL BREBEDEATFTEARZEREE 20,297 23,349
Bank balances and cash RITEB NS 9,095 10,817
30,958 35,711
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables A FE A R 690 585
Amount due to a subsidiary B — B AR KE 12,146 11,995
12,836 12,580
Net current assets REBEEFE 18,122 23,131
97,747 103,113
Capital and reserves EXRfFHE
Share capital N 38,000 38,000
Reserves s 59,747 65,113
97,747 103,113

1 2 6 Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Are IS R M R

26 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

26 DA B EARRET 2

Reserves of the Company DTS
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
R3S E 2T e wst
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET FET
At 1 April 2022 MZZEZZFMA—H 124,553 (55,046) 69,507
Loss and total comprehensive FABEREZERMAY
expense for the year - (4,394) (4,394)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=F=+—H 124,553 (59,440) 65,113
Loss and total comprehensive FANBEREZERMAY
expense for the year - (5,366) (5,366)
At 31 March 2024 RZEZWF=/F=+—H 124,553 (64,806) 59,747




The table below shows details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries of

the Company that have material non-controlling interests:

TRINFARRHEAEAF TR
F2EMBRANS

Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation interests and voting (Loss) profit allocated to
and principal rights held by non-controlling interests Accumulated
Name of place of non-controlling interests for the year ended non-controlling interests
subsidiary business as at 31 March 31 March as at 31 March
R=A=1+-~H BE=A=t+-HLFE
EMBIHER  FEHESHRSRETEER PEFHEHERN R=A=+-H
WEAREHE TEEXME REBRZELA A (&8) R FEHER
2023 2023 2023
—E-CF —E-CF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Norry Tech The PRC 49% 2,753 22,776
HERE H
Tristate International Hong Kong 49% (2,825) 12,380
B DR B0
(72) 35,156

BBEBAFES S M MEQE
MBERBERINT - T ER
BEREEANLHATNEE

Summarised financial information in respect of the above two
companies that have material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MR R M A

27 PARTICULARS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continuec)

?i& AFZTENE QA

Norry Tech =
2024 2023
— 7 —_ . E —= __f'i
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FHET

Current assets MEEE 53,504 48,985
Non-current assets IEREEE 3,498 4,322
Current liabilities mEBAE 16,436 6,825
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 22 F1#E A A JE{G R 20,689 23,706
Non-controlling interest of Norry Tech B FI) 32 B FEI 1 25 19,877 22,776
Revenue Wz 90,323 106,254
Expenses 53 93,866 100,635
(Loss) profit for the year FR(BE) &N (3,543) 5,619
(Loss) profit attributable to owners RARIEE AEL (BE) &R

of the Company (1,807) 2,866
(Loss) profit attributable to the RAZER IR SR S PR

non-controlling interests of Norry Tech (BE) &/ (1,736) 2,753
(Loss) profit for the year FA(HE) &F (3,543) 5,619
Other comprehensive expense attributable to N A 1A A JEME E b 2B L

owners of the Company (1,210) (1,819)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to & 1|32 JF 122 il #E 25 fE (5

the non-controlling interests of Norry Tech Htz2mAx (1,163) (1,747)
Other comprehensive expense for the year ~ FREM EEM X (2,373) (3,566)
Total comprehensive (expense) income AXRralEAEAELAEZE (FAX)

attributable to owners of the Company W 5 4B EE (3,017) 1,047
Total comprehensive (expense) income i ilfea 3'5? %'J 2= 1S

attributable to the non-controlling 2 (A W85

interests of Norry Tech (2,899) 1,006
Total comprehensive (expense) income FALHE(AX) Wz

for the year (5,916) 2,053
Net cash inflow from operating activities CEERAEEERAFR 1,497 844
Net cash outflow from investing activities REEBBHE S RLFE (225) 681)
Net cash inflow HERAERR 1,272 163

NS 129



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o

27 PARTICULARS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED

130

B MR

27 XATEZTEME D T

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued) 15 %)
Tristate International Béé oo B R
2024 2023
—ENE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT FHET
Current assets MEEE 19,402 22,992
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,939 2,366
Current liabilities mBEE 465 93
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZA 1A AFE(EH#EZS 10,647 12,885
Non-controlling interest of Tristate International B 25 B8 X #9 3F 4% il #E 25 10,229 12,380
Revenue Wz 96,091 110,078
Expenses 53 100,480 115,844
Loss and total comprehensive expense RARHEAEGBRER
attributable to owners of the Company FHEAL B (2,238) (2,941)
Loss and total comprehensive expense B4 O B R JE 450 | ﬁnﬂg )
attributable to non-controlling interests of EiEREEMZ A%
Tristate International (2,151) (2,825)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FABELEAERZ A%
for the year (4,389) (5,766)
Net cash outflow from operating activities WETEB TSRS R LF (1,227) (1,117)
Net cash inflow from investing activities BREEBFERESRAFE 3 2
Net cash outflow from financing activities RMEESERE SR F5E (444) (74
Net cash outflow We L F5E (1,668) (1,189)

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24



The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in
Notes 22 and 23 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of the
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

Financial assets SREE
FVTPL — held for trading FRBEmEATE —
Amortised cost B AR
Financial liabilities EA =R
Amortised cost B SERC AN

AEBEEREERAUBBRAEEETNE
BEFELE  UEBB(CEE L ER
%ﬁ%ﬁﬂxﬁi’“xﬁklﬁl#& ZXE@E’JW
BREEABEFERLERTE -

AEBEARBREERFE (2R
RUM BT RE22 2 23 B B BV R 1T X E A 48
ErMERE  MEREIREEFEY)
RAR 7%&ﬁAJ§f£%ﬁ(“%E%§‘ﬁ
AR R °

ARREEE MR EARE - @&
B ARAEFTEESBELRNKARR
HERR REBEARAEETNHEESR
RoAEEBEBRNKRE - ETH
B ARBITHEXBDRBES FE
HERBEARRE -

2023
—EI
HK$’'000
TAT

BIEEE 23,349

114,674

45,449
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The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables,
other receivables, deposits, bank balances and cash, financial
assets at FVTPL, trade and other payables, bank and other
borrowings and lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risks (currency risk, interest
rate risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

The Group’s exposure to currency risk mainly arises from the
fluctuation of US$, Euro and RMB against the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities. The carrying amounts of the foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
other than the functional currencies of the group entities are as
follows. The management closely monitors foreign exchange
exposure to mitigate the foreign currency risk.

AEENTFESHTAREE ZRKHK
B EMEWEIE B E  RITERK
Be BBBERRATEARZEME
E BEHNREMBEMNRE RITEEM
fEEANEEAE -ZEER T AN
BRENEBANT - RZEERIAR
MoRReEmsRR (E¥AR
ZRE B EEAERER) - EERR R
MEE TR - EEZEREROBERE
RTIX - EBREERYERZFRARIA
BREEEVEBEEERE -

AEERHNERRREIZRAET
BRI ARBEHEBEEERIGEER
MR E) o REERIBEEE SN INE
AHEENEEREBAGEREENT °
& 1R E 2 1) B 12 1 DEE T B el 1 LA 4 R S0
R

<]

Liabilities Assets
=R &gE

2023 2023
—EZ=F —EC=HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
RMB AR - 17,601
Us$ ETT - 4,354
Euro BT (102) 1,412
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Sensitivity analysis

Since HK$ is pegged to US$ under the Linked Exchange Rate
System, the management does not expect significant foreign
currency exposure in relation to the exchange rate fluctuation
between HK$ and US$. The Group mainly exposes to foreign
currency risks other than US$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase
in the functional currencies against the relevant foreign currency of
the relevant group entities. 5% is the sensitivity rate used in
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items, and
adjusts their translation at the end of each reporting period for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. A negative number below
indicates an increase in the Group’s loss after tax for the year
where the functional currency of the relevant group entities
strengthens against the relevant foreign currency. For a 5%
weakening of the functional currency of the relevant group entities,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the Group’s loss
after tax for the year.

Foreign currency his
RVMB ARHE
Euro BT

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.

BEED

R BERGE B ExriEe -
EEEEBYESBES L ETIERE
FREAIIMERR - AEBEFEME X
TCPAZNEY SINGE LB o

TRAFMANEEEEBEEERNIEL
ERLHBAINEER EA5%IERTH
BRRE 5% REEBGINEEERS
BN E B FTRANBEEL X - &
RENIMEREAINEHENKREERES
BIEB YHERBSHROBREED
SNEEE R BENERMFHE - TRAMEA
BFRTHEEEEREER LA
SNETHER NS BN AFERRIRER
HIEN - RSB E RIS B ES%
Alg T$%l¢F RRERELRE
HRTE

2023
—EC=HF
HK$’'000
FHET

(735)
(65)
BEERR  BRNFRERBKOIL T

RECFRRBRET O - SWEEE DT
RERIMNER B
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The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate other borrowings and lease liabilities as disclosed in
Notes 22 and 23 respectively. The management continuously
monitors interest rate exposure.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to variable-
rate bank balances and bank borrowings as disclosed in Notes 19
and 22 respectively due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market
interest rate. The Group currently does not have a policy on
hedging interest rate risk. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest
rate risk should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank borrowings. The
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at
each reporting period end was outstanding for the whole year. A
100 basis point increase or decrease is used which represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates. If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s loss
after tax for the year ended 31 March 2024 would increase/
decrease by HK$84,000 (2023: HK$110,000).

Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
directors of the Company consider that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances is
insignificant.

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL include listed equity
securities in Hong Kong. These listed equity securities are subject
to market price risk. The management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risk profiles.
Details of the financial assets at FVTPL are set out in Note 18. The
management of the Group considers that the market price risk of
these investments is not significant to the Group.
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REFPMT22 X235 RIFT R BN E
BHEMEENEEREAERFENEK
Rk - BERERFEERENXER

AEEOREREN RERE BRI E
19N 22FA B ¥ B IRITAEBRRIRITE
ERENTSMNERE M| BN EARE
B8 o AN 5% B 3R B 30 R A 3K B O B
Ko A EEEBERMNEERI NG
B K E BE P EANEER

BRBEDSN
INTSRE DT IR EA Z B RITHE
ERNFIRRABET o REDERER
BEREPAEENAECENBEFE
HRERE - FF THRA00ERZ AE
BESANERHIBNSIE S EITH
S AE o R = EF T B 100 fE X 26
FTEEMEBERFIE  ARNEBRE
E-E-_ME=A=1+—BILFENK
i 12 &5 18 #8 38 hn, IRk 4> 84,0007 7T (=
T — =4 :110,000/87T) °

HRARBEERRFBRITEREL
MREREMNEZRABBMTRE - BR
TR T EEBURE DT -

AEEZBBRBAFEARZERE
ERREBELTRARS - ZFLTK
AEFZBRRTERR - EREBEBA
TRERRBAEFREESEEZR
R BBBRBRATEARZEREE
MHEBHRMEI8-AEEERER
B RERENTERREAEENE
WARERK °



Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default
on their contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are primarily attributable
to trade receivables, other receivables, deposits and bank
balances. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial
assets.

Before accepting any new customers, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits granted to customers are reviewed
periodically. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group calculates ECL for the trade receivables individually or
collectively. Except for significant balances or credit-impaired
amounts which are assessed for impairment individually, the
remaining trade receivables are grouped under a collective
assessment after considering internal credit ratings of trade
debtors, ageing, repayment history and/or past due status of
respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for supportable forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 26% (2023: 22%) of
the total gross trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer as at 31 March 2024 and 55% (2023: 49%) of the total
gross trade receivables was due from the five largest customers as
at 31 March 2024.

EERAREASENHFIEREALD
afiﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁl%%,ﬂﬂ%ﬁé’wﬁﬂ

cAKBENEERBRIERARE
EH&ZMI,E H i YRR - e MERTT
B ARBEYEFETAEMRNIE
fiEEEREN ARAEESREE
BRANEERR -

BEMERFELA  ARBE N HELE
BEPZEEER IBEREPZEER
HepMeEHRa R TEPZEER
BoREEREEERR BEECZ
KEFAEBEEERE FEHER
HMERERF  UHEARRIURETEN
@?CHMIIE SN - A5 B {E B 3k Sk B8
AEEHREREFIENEREERE - K
BEREHREERESBEEMNBE
o EREZRUKIEARERESE
BARABMEETFR Rk - BRFCH
%/%EE 5 RRFIAN B HMRRNI% -
BERFENHE - AFTERXIDERE
BARTBHFHRNELBERENRMG
it LB AEE ML ERASIE SR
AEENAEAAEBRIFHAELEE
*M’Eﬁaﬂ*k cMEWREHARAGENTE
ELBREZOXNEEBIELEERNE
otz ARAEERR AE
B EERRD AEEE -

HRESEWRRELEEZ226% (=%
:_¢ 22%) BIEWAEBR =T
TE=ZA=+—BHRABEFHWHEAER
LSRN RIARE 2 55% (T E - =4F:
49%) AEWN T _MF=A=+—
HEAEFMFIE MAEENEEE

B o
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The directors of the Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables and deposits based on
historical settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable
forward-looking information. The directors of the Company believe
that there are no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts
since initial recognition and the Group provided impairment based
on 12m ECL. For both years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024, the
Group assessed the ECL for other receivables and deposits to be
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the counterparties
are reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for
bank balances by reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies. Based on the average
loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered to be
insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Are IS R M R

29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29 @I A »
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) tREREEEERBEK (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) = EE b KR E G ()
Bank balances (Continued) IRITHEH (B)
The table below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s TRINTAEEIREHEK A2 R/
financial assets at amortised cost, which are subject to ECL BEGRTREHREESETHmE) NE
assessment: ERRE :

External Internal 12m or Gross
credit credit lifetime carrying
rating rating ECL amount

128 A=
ShEB W 2 HTE IR
EEFR BT EEBE e
At 31 March 2024 R-E-NE=RA=+—H HK$’000
FRT
Financial assets at REBERATEZ
amortised cost CREE
Trade receivables B 5 W RIA Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
2HEN
N/A note 1 EEFHE
FEA M1 (BEERE) 46,345
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
2HEN
N/A note 1 EEFHE
FEA M1 (EERE) 17,085
Other receivables and deposits ~ E A JERF AR T & 12m ECL
N/A note2 12{AFEH
&R BisE2 FEFE 1,571
Bank balances BITREH Baa or 12m ECL
higher N/A 128 B FEH
BaamlE & FERA FEEBER 46,478
External Internal 12m or Gross
credit credit lifetime carrying
rating rating ECL amount
128 B3k
IR A ZHIRE) 8K
EEFE EEFIR EEEBE #“1E
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=f=A=+—H HK$’000
FETT
Financial assets at RBERETEZ
amortised cost SEE E
Trade receivables 2 5 WA Lifetime ECL
N/A note 1 2 Hi T8 Hj
TEA B EE EEEB 54,145
Other receivables and deposits HiERRERES 12m ECL
N/A note2  121& A TEH
TEA fzE2 EEEB 706
Bank balances BITH Baa or 12m ECL
higher N/A 1218 ATE S
Baa s ¥ = TiEA FEEEB 65,965
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Bank balances (Continued)
Notes:

(1) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. As part of
the Group’s credit risk management, the Group used an internal
credit rating by assigning an individual loss rate to each of its debtors.
The Group applied internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

the following categories:

Qualification classification definition:

“Strong”: The counterparty has low probability of default
considering relative size, business relationship and
repayment history. Debtors frequently settles before

due date.

“Good”: The counterparty has low default risk considering
relative size, business relationship and repayment
history. Debtors frequently settles after due date but

usually settles in full.

“Satisfactory”: The counterparty has moderate default risk
considering relative size, business relationship and
repayment history. Debtors frequently settles after

past due 90 days or more.

“Doubtful”: The counterparty has high default risk considering
relative size, business relationship and repayment
history. Debtors have long outstanding balances

which are past due over 1 year.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

MESEUGRETRE - ARBECER
BRMBRELREINR 2 BHL IR
AEEHBEHEEEECBERE-
ERAEEEERREEN— MK -
AEERBANBEENR  RERE
A BB Bl H B 1R 3K o AN ER [ JE
R EERRFRZAEBEAT

ESR

HEDBEEE

[i3fe]

[REF]:

[HE]:

[Ar&E]

BERBHRE  EXBH
BERERLCE HFHE
M AREE - BEEAL
EREBEZAIAEH -

BERBHRE  EBH
BEERLE HFHE
DR BE - BEHALE
EEHMBEREE - ERF
SRS -
KERBHRE  EBH
BERERLE HF &
ORBATE BBAL
FREH B EHE
BAEEHE -

BEBBLERR X5
BREFRLHE HFHE
OREREE - -EEAGE
H-FUERBAREE
BREE
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29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29 €FT A )
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) tREREEEERBEK (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1EE R Bz R EFF L (B)
Bank balances (Continued) IRITHEH (B)
Notes: (Continued) MisE : (48)
(1) (Continued) 1 (&)
Gross carrying amount HEREE
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit TREHEBESREFENEER
risk for trade receivables which are assessed within lifetime ECL. REK ZEBEHERFEREZERE
HEEEBANEBTM -
2024 2023
—E-ME —E =4
Average Trade Average Trade
Internal credit rating AT EETR loss rate  receivables loss rate receivables
FHEEE HEEENRGE  FHEBEX BSRUKGKIE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FaET FHT
Strong =i 3% 33,006 5% 2,781
Good Rif 6% 7,578 9% 27,285
Satisfactory E 15% 5,761 15% 24,079
Doubtful AJ &t 46% 17,085 - -
63,430 54,145
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed BHEBEEEDREBARBHFHA
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted HE S RSB A RETIEGT Wt &
for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or AT 38 % AN lois h BN Rl 45 2 Bl
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management to EUHEERELAE BRIERER
ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated. EBEHRi  WEREFEAFTER
ANEEHEE -
BREBZERERAT

2023/24 FR
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29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Bank balances (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(1) (Continued)
Gross carrying amount (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has
been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified approach.

29 ﬁ%ﬂlaﬁ
érﬂﬂf@%’fiﬁ ZRBUER

Ve
I

U%»l

IR E ()
TE IR B AR AL 7% 3 5 Rk
HERRY 2 R EEESY -

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
ENNEE 2 B8 AR
ZEEE FEER
(B=ERME) (EERME) Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET
At 1 April 2022 RZZEZ_FMA—H 3,237 - 3,237
Changes due to financial instruments /A —Z = —4 P4 5 —H
recognised as at 1 April 2022: EERASMIA
FRESES
— Impairment losses reversed — B EREEE (3,064) - (3,064)
— Transfer to credit-impaired — EEREEERE (164) 164 -
— Impairment losses recognised — HRREEE 1,692 1,234 2,926
— Write-offs — M 8H - (1,398) (1,398)
New financial assets originated MEREERMARE 4,445 - 4,445
At 31 March 2023 R-ZZE—=F=A=+—H 6,146 - 6,146
Changes due to financial instruments R —Z -~ =4 5 —H
recognised as at 1 April 2023: EEREAEmIA
FREENES)
— Impairment losses reversed — B EREEE (5,643) - (5,643)
— Transfer to credit-impaired — BEEEEREAE (434) 434 -
— Impairment losses recognised — HRREEE 1,059 5,826 6,885
New financial assets originated FIERESMEE 1,133 1,625 2,758
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_mWFE=ZA=+—H 2,261 7,885 10,146

As at 31 March 2024, lifetime ECL of HK$10,146,000 (2023:
HK$6,146,000) for trade receivables with an aggregate gross
carrying amount of HK$63,430,000 (2023: HK$54,145,000) has
been recognised.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group provided
HK$4,000,000 (2023: HK$4,307,000) impairment allowance, net of
reversal of HK$5,643,000 (2023: HK$3,064,000) for trade
receivables.

—] 40 Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

R-E-_NWE=F=+—HB B
BF [ {8 /4 63,430,000 77 (Z T = =
& 1 54,145,000 7T0) M & 5 fE W 318
ﬁﬁémiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéEﬂémmaooo,‘%
TT(ZZ =4 : 6,146,000/ 7T) °

HE_Z-_ME=ZA=1+—HIFE "
REBERE SHEKS Iéuﬂm/mﬁﬁé‘ﬁ
4,000,000 T (=& = =
4,307,000,%71)
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29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Bank balances (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

2 For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group uses
past due information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

29 €W T R

TREREEEFEREEE)
=B fa bz R Bl E V18 ()

RITHEER ()

MiEE : (42)

@ HRABEEARTRNE AEEE

REaMERFEEERRSNTER
R B AEIEM -

Not past
due/no fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
I A,
161 5 EWEEEES et
At 31 March 2024 R-EBE-_mME=A=+-—H HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
Other receivables and deposits Hi s Rige - 1,571 1,571
Not past
due/no fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
Rik 3 i)
e mEEEESR #Et
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=%=A=+—H HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET
Other receivables and deposits HEMEKRARIBERIES - 706 706

Liquidlity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the
directors of the Company, which has built an appropriate liquidity
risk management framework for the management’s short, medium
and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The
Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and
borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual
cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets
and liabilities.

RBE TR R
ARBEERRBDECRABREE ALK
REME RECRYABENRDESR
REBEERNEERE PRERHESMN
ERSHESEERK ARERBEER
RARHBELEERE SEEZEEIR
ERReREANLEHEREELAR
MEIERES  LEBERBE SRR
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29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of the
banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The tables include both interest and principal
cash flows.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

E@MIA
LREABEERERIE (&

D%

RBEZ R (&)

TMINERREAEECHEBEERTEHE
HIHFHE - A ERBREAEE LA
%EZHE!’J?EE!%@EEE%E@?HEIEE
EMEMME - BLEEMm BB ERE
i 15 ﬂﬁ’]fﬁﬁ%mﬁ)\miﬁﬁﬁﬁ IR
WIRITEBITEEBENOB R - i3
TEemAaBEs IJHHEUﬂEB““Tﬁ?ﬁﬁfx

HET ZERBEREMNELASRE

==
ILEE °

i

tBE S M B ARK

=D

Vi \

On

Weighted  demand or Total
average less than 3 months 1-5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months to 1 year years cash flows amounts

mE  RERER 3f8A RFTR
FigFIE AR R K-S 1255 HEeRBAR REE
% HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TR TR THER TER TR

At 31 March 2024 RZE-ZmE=A=1—H
Trade and other payables B 5 L E R FIE - 8,536 - - 8,536 8,536
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 4.15 23,000 - - 23,000 23,000
31,536 - - 31,536 31,536
Lease liabilties HEBE 4.361 913 2,789 7,440 11,142 10,451
32,449 2,789 7,440 42,678 41,987
On

Weighted demand or Total
average less than 3 months 1-5  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months to 1 year years cash flows amounts

- REREDSR 31EA ERiiE)
TR = 3EAR E1F 1E5F Renels RHE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET

At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—H

Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERTIE - 5,547 - - 5,547 5,547
Bank and other borrowings BITREMES 413 28,210 - - 28,210 28,210
33,757 - - 33,757 33,757
Lease liabilties HEBE 4.175 733 2,198 9,822 12,753 11,692
34,490 2,198 9,822 46,510 45,449

1 42 Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24



Bank and other borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “on demand or less than 3 months” time band
in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amounts of these bank and other
borrowings amounted to HK$23,000,000 (2023: HK$28,210,000).
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the directors of
the Company do not believe that it is probable that the financial
institution will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The directors of the Company believe that
such bank and other borrowings will be repaid after the end of
reporting period in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements. As a result, the aggregate
principal and interest cash outflows will amount to HK$23,226,000
as at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$28,487,000).

MR EREBGRNBITREMER
SFTALEMEB BB S E [ ERKEFH3
BEAARIKER R_ZT_WMF=A
=+—H ZERTEREMEEHRT
IR & #% 523,000,000 T (==
— =4 :28,210,000/8 L) ° & E E| A
EEMNMBERR  ARFREEREES M
TR RETHEMNIEEZ KAIRE
Ko RABIEZHEZSRITREAMSE
B KBERBZAEFTEERB R
WMEHREBEEE Bt 2T -0F
—A=Zt+—HMASRFBEERHE
B 523,226,000 T (Z T - =4
28,487,000 7T) °

Maturity Analysis — Bank and other borrowings subject to a repayment

on demand clause based on scheduled repayments

AMASH — REERBARMTRERABERANBRTRAMEE

0-3
months

0Z3f8A
HK$'000
FEL

At 31 March 2024 “EoNFE=ZA=+—H 23,226

At 31 March 2023 “T-ZHZA=+—H 27,250

Total
4-6 undiscounted Carrying
months cash flows amount
KRR
4Z6{8A AeRBRE IREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET TET
- 23,226 23,000
1,237 28,487 28,210

2023/24 FR
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29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29 @I A »
Fair value NE{E
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts RATIESRBIZEHEK ARG ARE W
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost BHRENeHEEReRAERDEHS
in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair ERFERE ZELATEREEERE
values. Such fair values have been determined in accordance with M EEEXIZITIRASRENINETE -
generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash
flow analysis.

Fair value of the Group's financial assets that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis

The financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period.

The following table gives information about how the fair value of the TREHREHANNEEEMEEATE
financial asset is determined. K& F} o

Fair value as at

DNFE
31 March 31 March
Financial asset EREE 2024 2023
R-IB-ME RZT=Z= Valuation
=H=+—H =ZA=+—H Farvalue technique
HK$°000 HK$’000 hierarchy and key input
NEE HERMN R
FH T FHERT SHHEE EELH
Financial asset at FVTPL BRBREAFEARZ 20,297 23,349  Level 1 Quoted bid prices
— Equity securities listed CREE — RBRAET F—1 in an active market.
on the Stock Exchange KRB 5 &R TI% TR
BIZE -
There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during the year. F— BREBE=-FRHEREFEHRE

it o

—] 44 Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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The Group had no significant transactions and balances with
related party during the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year is as follows:

Fee &M

Salaries and allowances e KRR

Performance related incentive payments 45 &8 1€ 4

Contributions to retirement benefit RIKAEFIT 845X
schemes

The Group participates in a defined contribution scheme which is
registered under the MPF Scheme established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. For members of the MPF Scheme,
the Group contributes at the lower of HK$1,500 per month or 5%
of relevant payroll costs each month to the MPF Scheme, in which
the contribution is matched by the employee. There is no forfeited
contributions utilised by the Group during the year.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC are members
of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by the
government of the PRC. The subsidiary is required to contribute a
specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified
contributions.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of HK$1,937,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$1,628,000) represent
contributions paid and payable to these plans by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the plans.

REE-_Z_NMFR_FT_=F
—AZt+—HIEFE A£EEHE
Al T EEMERAR S NSk -

EERHEMEIBEEABRASE
B ZF# BT

2023
—E-=F
HK$’000
FHT

600
7,240
2,378

144

10,362

A& E 2 BRI R HIERTES S EA
AR EY SR TR & 5T 8 A RO E BR A ARG
g ZAtAMEERAKRBEEED FE
B -AERATENESRA - BEE
ArEIRB A E AKEE A Z1,500%8
TCSRAERAFT A AR E) 5% (SARIE & R2E)
mogfEE st E8IHR - MEEMAFELFE
BUER - AEERAFEL EEBHOR
YK -

AEBWHENEARIERY AT EK
JiF 2 o ) B 5K IR AR UK AR B B RO K
8 o ZME QR ARFMK AN E B
7 L RR AR AT B R AR BB RS
@A o AR B B %R AR AT BIASE S
BEERELEEMRRK -

BE-_Z-_NWFE=ZA=+—HILEER
BRERNMA$1,937,0008 7T (==
— = 11,628,000/ 70) 5 A £ Bt
SFRAFTHENEEE N REN TZE
ETEIR R
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The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows used

in financing activities.

At 1 April 2022

New lease entered
Financing cash flows
Interest expense

At 31 March 2023

New lease entered
Financing cash flows
Interest expense

At 31 March 2024

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

RZFEZZFMHA—H
R FHE
BERESR=E
FERX

R-ZE_=%F
=A=+—H
RV HEE

MERESRE

M BFX

R-ZE-F
=A=+—8

Interest
payable

B 7 2.
HK$'000
T

169

(710)
541

(745)
745

TERAAEERERPELZREE
HE BRRSLFRSEH - -BEE
BELZABNAREREARKAS
MERNASENGARRERERIES
MELBAAZREREZRE -

Bank
and other Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
BITR
HitfgE HESE et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000

TAET TAET TAETT

20,000 12,916 33,085
- 844 844
8,210 (2,562) 4,938
- 494 1,035
28,210 11,692 39,902
- 1,364 1,364
(5,210) (3,049) (9,004)
- 444 1,189
23,000 10,451 33,451



Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting
period are set out below.

Place and of Issued and fully paid
incorporation/  Place of share capital/
Name of subsidiary establishment  operations registered capital
gAY/ BRIRARKRAE/
WEARER 2 0k:ch EENY aHEL
Directly held EERE
Hang Wing BVI Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1
B EBRUEE  AE ERRIAET
Top Standard Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1
TRERAF BE BE TRRIET
Indirectly held BEsEE
Top Mark Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares

HK$1,000,000

BRI Bk B 81k 1,000,000 7T
MAXA RockDrills Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$100
0 BE LERI00ET
Norry Tech The PRC The PRC Registered capital
HK$23,000,000
Rz i + HMER
23,000,000 7T
Tristate International Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares
HK$10,000
Bt R BURR 0 BE B 10,0007 T
Top Glory Construction Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares
Equipment Limited HK$10,000
ERRERBERLR  FE B LBk 10,0008 T
Tristate (HK) Holding Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1
Company Limited
0 BE BRR1ET

Norry Tech is a wholly foreign owned enterprise.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end
of the year and during the year.

7R B A 2 7 IR 4 SR 0 5 A LT
m -

Attributable equity
interest to the Group Principal activities
x5E
LR E TEEK
2023
—To=E

%

100 Investment holding
REER

100 Inactive

TEXH

100 Trading of DTH rockdriling tools,
rockdriling equipment and piling
and driling machineries

ERENBETA BERE
ARATHE S T B

100 Trading of rockdriling equipment
EERARE

51 Manufacturing of DTH

rockdriling tools
HEEHIEATA

51 Trading of rockdriling equipment
and piling and driling machineries
EE2ERGE  URTERRER
100 Trading of rockdriling and piling
and driling equipment and
machineries
ERRE  ITBEMBILREREN
100 Investment holding
REER
RMERIIBBELSE -

REFR R AFE IR - I EHE AR
BITEAERES

2023/24 FR



Revenue

(Loss) profit before tax
Tax (charge) credit
(Loss) profit for the year

Total comprehensive (expense)

income for the year

Total comprehensive (expense)

income attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

(Loss) earnings per share, basic

(HK cents)

Total non-current assets
Total current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

Total current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS
Equity

Equity attributable to the owners

of the Company
Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

L6

BRAEAT (518 i Al
BR () E%

R (BR) &
FRAZEA (FAX) R

ATATEGEZE
@ (Fx) Wt

AREHEBA

JFHE

BREX(BR) AN
(BAL)

FRBEERE
mBEERE

BEFE

g

NI ZoUN
iyl $

SR

miEs

For the year 31 March
BEZA=t-ALEE

2023 2022 2021
—Eo=F —E-F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT TAT FHT
157,048 141,748 106,693
(6,516) (1,115) (7,434)
2,940 (360) 897
(3,576) (1,475) (6,537)
(8,4306) 319 (1,732)
6,617) 461 (1,106)
(1,819 (142) (626)
(0.92) 0.12) (1.16)

As at 31 March

R=A=+-H
2023 2022 2021
—E-=F —E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET
17,966 25,502 28,243
213,139 207,294 210,850
231,105 232,796 239,093
43,941 35,450 40,156
9,295 11,041 12,951
53,236 46,491 53,107
177,869 186,305 185,986
142,713 149,330 148,869
35,156 36,975 37,117
177,869 186,305 185,986

2020
—E-TE

—R ==

HK$'000
TAT

178,559
26,593
(5,711)
20,882
18,025
12,036

5,989

3.60

2020
—E-F&

—= ==

HK$'000
TAT

29,944
208,258

238,202

35,760
14,724

50,484

187,718

149,975
37,743

187,718



“Articles” or “Articles of
Association”

“associate(s)”

“Board” or

“Board of Directors”

“Business Day” or
“business day”

“BV/J”

“Code”

“Colour Shine”

“Companies
Ordinance”

” n

“Company”,
Company”,
“we” or “Us”

“connected person”

“Controlling

Shareholder(s)”

“Director(s)”

“ESG”

the articles of association of the Company, as
amended from time to time

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the
Listing Rules

the board of Directors

a day on which banks in Hong Kong are
generally open for normal banking business to
the public and which is not a Saturday, Sunday
or public holiday in Hong Kong

the British Virgin Islands

Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, as amended
from time to time

Colour Shine Investments Limited % & & &
[R A 7], a company incorporated in the BVI
with limited liabilities, which is wholly-owned by
Mr. He Xiaoming, and became the Controlling
Shareholders on 5 February 2018

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), as amended or
supplemented from time to time

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited /& 45 & & 2
f% B R A &), a company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands with limited liability on 17
March 2016

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing
Rules

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing
Rules and, unless the context otherwise
requires, means Mr. He Xiaoming and Colour
Shine from 5 February 2018

the director(s) of the Company

Environmental, Social and Governance

(AR 4§
[FAER
ARl

[EAl 1§

[EFg] &

[#%B8]

[REBEX 1§
BE]

SN e
¥4 ] e

NGRS TN

VNI
E:4 N

[BEAL] #&

[ZERg ] 45

[E%] e

B%;i?z e I8
E /DJ

AR R AME
TR ET

AR

B LT RAR T %A
ks

BExe

BRRITRE AR
WIELRRITEBOET
(EHIXN - EHBRXER
RNRBHERIN)
REBRZES

TR BIKT 8 C1 AT & &
¥ERTR (B TRAEET)

VRIREBRAT  —
R BB S A

MWARRE - BEXAL
E2EBEE YR _-F
—N\FZARAKAER
PR

BB XD E22E R AIE
Bl > EREHERT S 7T

BREEZERARA

R-ZE—XE=H +’EE|
rHESHEFMNINE
R AA]

BB EMHRBE FZAN
VRS

BB EMHRBE FZAN
HME BXESEE
B ZE-NF_AR
At BAEBELEERK
&

KARES

RE - HERER

2023/24 FR



“Euro”
“Executive Director(s)”

» o«

“Group”, “our Group”,
“we” or “Us”

“Hang Wing”

“HK$” or “Hong Kong
dollars” or “HK
dollars” or “cents”

“Hong Kong” or “HK”
“Independent
Non-executive

Director(s)”

“independent
third party(ies)”

“Listing Date”

the lawful currency of the European Union
the executive Director(s)

the Company and its subsidiaries or, where the
context otherwise requires, in respect of the
period prior to our Company becoming the
holding company of its present subsidiaries, the
present subsidiaries of our Company, some or
any of them and the businesses carried on by
such subsidiaries or (as the case may be) their
predecessors

Hang Wing Holdings Limited 48 25 #% i% & R 2~
A, a BVI business company incorporated in
the BVI with limited liability on 16 March 2016
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the
lawful currency of Hong Kong

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
of the PRC

the independent non-executive Director(s)

person(s) or company(ies) and their respective
ultimate beneficial owner(s), who/which, to the
best of our Directors’ knowledge, information
and belief, having made all reasonable
enquiries, is/are not connected with our
Company or our connected persons as defined
under the Listing Rules

the date, being, 11 January 2017, on which the
shares of the Company are listed on the Stock
Exchange and from which dealings in the
shares are permitted to commence on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange
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“Listing Rules”

“Macau”

“Maxa RockDrills”

“MPF”

“Norry Tech”

“PRC”

“Prospectus”

“Reporting Period”

“RMB” or “Renminbi”

“SFO”

“Share(s)”
“Shareholder(s)”

“Stock Exchange”

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time)

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the
PRC

MAXA RockDrills Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
on 15 September 2000 and is an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

mandatory provident fund

1L T IEfE R 2R A E T2 R B AR AR (Norry
Tech Engineering Equipment Limited), a
company established in the PRC with limited
liability on 16 October 2007, owned as to 51%
by Tristate Hong Kong, and is an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

the People’s Republic of China, excluding for
the purpose of this annual report only, Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region, Macau
Special Administrative Region and Taiwan
region

the prospectus of the Company dated 30
December 2016 in relation to the initial public
offering and the listing of our Shares on the

Stock Exchange

2023/2024 (from 1 April 2023 to 31 March
2024)

the lawful currency of the PRC

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended
or supplemented from time to time

the ordinary share(s) of the Company

the shareholder(s) of the Company

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
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“subsidiary” or
“subsidiaries”

“substantial
shareholder”

“Top Glory”

“Top Mark”

“Tristate Hong Kong”

“Tristate International”

“U.S.”, “USA” or
“United States”

“US$”, ;:USD” or
“U.S. dollars”

“Year”

“%U

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the
Companies Ordinance

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing
Rules

Top Glory Construction Equipment Limited =
REEZEBR QA formerly known as Top
Mark Construction Equipment Limited = 3 &
SEREAR A A, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability on 20 March
2015 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company

Top Mark Mechanical Equipment Limited 7 %
% 2% 18 8 PR /2 &), a company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability on 28 July
1997 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company

Tristate (HK) Holding Company Limited, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability on 13 April 2016, and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

Tristate International Industrial Limited B 25
B E 3 AR A A, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability on 28 July 2008,
and held as to 51% by Hang Wing, and an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of our
Company

the United States of America, its territories, its
possessions and all areas subject to its

jurisdiction

United States dollars, the lawful currency for
the time being of the United States

Year ended 31 March 2024

per cent

In the event of any inconsistency, the English text of this annual report
shall prevail over the Chinese text.
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Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
BEREBERER AT
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